
Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

 

MONDAY, MARCH 13, 2023 6:00 PM 
 

 

 

 
    
1. Call to Order 
    
2. Non-Public Session  
  2.1. RSA 91-A:3 II(e) Pending Litigation  Consideration or negotiation of 

pending claims or litigation which has been threatened in writing or filed 
by or against the public body or any subdivision thereof, or by or against 
any member thereof because of his or her membership in such public 
body, until the claim or litigation has been fully adjudicated or otherwise 
settled.  

  2.2. RSA 91-A:3 II.(d) Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or 
personal property which, if discussed in public, would likely benefit a party 
or parties whose interests are adverse to those of the general 
community.  

  2.3. RSA 91-A:3 II(a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public 
employee or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any 
charges against him or her, unless the employee affected (1) has a right to a 
meeting and (2) requests that the meeting be open, in which case the request shall 
be granted.   

    
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
    
4. Board Appointment: Fourth of July Committee 
  4.1. Tom Darnall, Application for Fourth of July Committee  
    
5. Citizens' Forum 
  5.1. Village Residents' Traffic Concerns  
    
6. Scheduled Appointments 
 

 

  6.1. Use of Town Common application, Determined Marial Arts  
    
7. Administration 
  7.1. Administrative Updates  

Page 1 of 159



 

 

  7.2. Impact Fee Update  
    
8. Staff Reports 
  8.1. Mont Vernon Rd. CE & Construction Bids/Approvals  
  8.2. Spring Rd. Culvert Repair Bids  
  8.3. Spring Rd. Microsurfacing Bid  
    
9. Approvals 
  9.1. Elderly Tax Deferral  
  9.2. Assessing  
  9.3. Milford Rotary Raffle Permit, 100 Holes of Golf  
  9.4. Amherst Garden Club Raffle Permit Application  
  9.5. Payroll, AP and Minutes   
    
10. Action Items 
    
11. Old/New Business 
    
  Adjournment 
    
  Next Meeting: March 27, 2023 
 

You are invited to a Zoom webinar. 
When: Mar 13, 2023 06:00 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
Topic: Board of Selectmen Meeting 3/13/23 
 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88296230203   
Or Telephone: 646 931 3860   
Webinar ID: 882 9623 0203     

Page 2 of 159

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88296230203


Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: RSA 91-A:3 II(e) Pending 
Litigation  Consideration or negotiation of 
pending claims or litigation which has been 
threatened in writing or filed by or against 
the public body or any subdivision thereof, 
or by or against any member thereof 
because of his or her membership in such 
public body, until the claim or litigation has 
been fully adjudicated or otherwise settled. 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Item 2-a BTLA Confidential 
2. Item 2-b BTLA Confidential 
 

Page 3 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: RSA 91-A:3 II.(d) Consideration of 
the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or 
personal property which, if discussed in 
public, would likely benefit a party or 
parties whose interests are adverse to 
those of the general community. 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 4 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: RSA 91-A:3 II(a) The dismissal, 
promotion, or compensation of any public 
employee or the disciplining of such employee, 
or the investigation of any charges against him 
or her, unless the employee affected (1) has a 
right to a meeting and (2) requests that the 
meeting be open, in which case the request shall 
be granted.  

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 5 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH Volunteer Application 

Board/Committee/Commission you wish to serve on: Amherst Fourth of July Committee

Applicant Name: _T_o_m_D_a_r_n_a_ll_____________ _ 

Residence Address: 18 Oak Hill Drive Amherst, NH 

Mailing Address: 18 Oak Hill Drive Amherst, NH 

Best Telephone: 
(Cell or home) 

E-mail Address: tomdarnall@yahoo.com

Time Available - Estimated number of hours per month: 1_0 ____ _ 
Other Boards/Committee/Commission you have served on (may include other cities/towns): 

Booster Club Vice-President, Cub Scout Pack Leader 

To complete your application, please submit a separate Letter of Intent with this 
form, describing your interest in the position you are applying for and what 
qualities/experience you will bring to the board to help with its goals and 
mission. 

Signature Date 

Please return this form and requested statements to: 

Jennifer Stover 
Town of Amherst 
2 Main Street 
Amherst, NH 03031 

. or e-mail: jstover@amherstnh.gov 

Page 6 of 159



Page 7 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Village Residents' Traffic Concerns Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 8 of 159



Mark O. Reams (Mar 8, 2023 14:36 EST)
Mark O. Reams 3/8/23

Matthew Conley (Mar 8, 2023 14:37 EST)
Matthew Conley 3/8/23

Eric Slosek (Mar 8, 2023 17:06 EST)
Eric Slosek 3/8/23

Page 9 of 159



4970_001
Final Audit Report 2023-03-08

Created: 2023-03-08

By: Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAA2fqsQb6EwOCDYPJWIGta1MSks_SAugAr

"4970_001" History
Document created by Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)
2023-03-08 - 7:17:34 PM GMT

Document emailed to mreams@amherstnh.gov for signature
2023-03-08 - 7:18:00 PM GMT

Document emailed to Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2023-03-08 - 7:18:00 PM GMT

Document emailed to Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2023-03-08 - 7:18:00 PM GMT

Email viewed by mreams@amherstnh.gov
2023-03-08 - 7:35:46 PM GMT

Signer mreams@amherstnh.gov entered name at signing as Mark O. Reams
2023-03-08 - 7:36:46 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Mark O. Reams (mreams@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2023-03-08 - 7:36:48 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Email viewed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
2023-03-08 - 7:37:32 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2023-03-08 - 7:37:53 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Email viewed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
2023-03-08 - 10:06:08 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2023-03-08 - 10:06:55 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Page 10 of 159



Agreement completed.
2023-03-08 - 10:06:55 PM GMT

Page 11 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Administrative Updates Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 12 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Impact Fee Update Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Dean Shankle  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The BOS are to review the impact fee schedule annually.  Bruce Mayberry is willing to 
undertake the update.  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
Up to $5,000 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Do the update.  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move that we waive the purchasing policy to waive the requirement for informal 
competitive bidding and contract with BCM Planning to do the annual update of the 
Impact Fee schedule for an amount not exceeding $5,000 and to authorize the town 
administrator  to sign the service agreement.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: 
yes 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2023 Mayberry Update agreement 
 

Page 13 of 159



Services Agreement – Impact Fee Update 2023 – Amherst, NH 1

SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR 
AMHERST, NEW HAMPSHIRE IMPACT FEE UPDATE - 2023

This Agreement, dated                                                 2023, by and between the Town of Amherst, 
New Hampshire (the Town) and BCM Planning, LLC of Yarmouth, Maine 04096 (the Consultant), 
establishes conditions under which these parties mutually agree to the terms stated below. 

Whereas, the Town desires to engage the Consultant to update and amend its 2020 impact fee 
study and related impact fee calculation; 

Now therefore, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and terms herein 
contained, the parties hereto agree to the scope of services, terms and conditions, and 
compensation provisions provided herein.

Scope of Services

1. Overview

The Town has adopted an impact fee ordinance and impact fee schedules supported by 
previous reports completed by BCM Planning, LLC.   In those reports, impact fees were 
calculated for the following capital facility categories:

▪ Police Department
▪ Fire Department
▪ Town roads
▪ Public recreation facilities
▪ Public schools

The purpose of the 2023 update will be to evaluate, and where supportable, update the 
principal demographic and cost variables within each of the five impact fee categories. 

2.  Components of Update

a. Review the demographic assumptions and revise to incorporate US Census (2020) or 
American Community Survey estimates, employment within in Amherst, current school 
enrollment, and new long term (20 year) population projections, local 
employment.   Adjust the fee models where appropriate to estimate long term 
development or buildout estimates.   

b. For the school impact fee, the enrollment ratios per housing unit were documented in 
2020 using address-matching of student counts to property assessment data.  It is 
expected that these ratios will be maintained in the update, but may be statistically 

Page 14 of 159



Services Agreement – Impact Fee Update 2023 – Amherst, NH 2

adjusted if there have been any significant changes in the overall ratio of resident pupils 
to the number of housing units in Amherst.   If the Amherst School District approves the 
expansion and improvements of the K-8 schools in March 2023, the floor area standards 
per pupil assumed in the original fee basis will be adjusted accordingly. 

c. Adjust the capital values in each fee basis to include new Town asset values added since 
the original fee was prepared, and apply appropriate cost indexes to bring capital values 
to a current estimated replacement cost.

d. Where appropriate to individual fees, the cost of new planned capital projects may be 
added to the capital costs that are allocated between existing vs. new 
development.   Such additions should include only those capital improvements for which 
funds have been appropriated, approved for implementation, or those for which there 
is high confidence for timely completion.

  
e. Where credit allowances were part of the original fee calculations, they will be adjusted 

to reflect progress in debt amortization and changes in the assessed valuation of the 
Town.      

f. Updated impact fee schedules, based on the fee per square foot method developed in 
prior reports to the Town, will be prepared for each fee category.  

g. The final report will be limited to a series of summary tables showing the new 
calculations with brief narrative describing the changes made to the variables that 
define the amount of the fee. 

h. For each fee, the report will discuss limits to the duration of the fee schedules with 
respect to the capacity assumptions assumed in the fee basis. 

4:  Meetings

It is assumed that all meetings will be limited to the use of video conferences or telephone 
discussions.   No travel by the Consultant is anticipated within this scope of services. 

5:  Role of Town

In support of the update, the Town will be asked to supply information including updated fixed 
asset schedules for municipal facilities, related capital improvements approved for 
implementation, updated CIP information, and selected tax assessment data.   

6:  Report

A reproducible original of all draft and final products will be provided to the Town as part of this 
scope of services.  The reproduction or dissemination of other copies of interim reports or 

Page 15 of 159



Services Agreement – Impact Fee Update 2023 – Amherst, NH 3

other draft documents for staff or Board review shall be the responsibility of the Town.   The 
Consultant will provide PDF versions of a final report.

7:  Project Budget, Fee, and Schedule

The estimated cost of the scope of work as outlined above is between $3,750 and $5,000.  The 
actual cost of the update will be billed hourly at a rate of $145 per hour.   This hourly rate 
incorporates allowances for related overhead and direct costs related to the study.      

Payments from the Town to the Consultant are expected to be received not more than 30 
calendar days following receipt of the invoice by the Town.    If the work is authorized by March 
15, 2023, a draft of the impact fee update should be completed within 45-60 days.  

8:  Limitations of Study

While the Consultant will perform all tasks in the proposed scope of services in a professional 
manner, and within the guidelines of RSA 674:21 V, no warranty of the ultimate legal 
defensibility of methodologies subsequently adopted by the Town for fee assessment should be 
construed as a part or extension of this scope of services.   

The Consultant and the Town hereby accept the terms of this Agreement, as indicated by the 
signatures below. 

ACCEPTED BY: ACCEPTED BY:
THE CONSULTANT THE TOWN OF AMHERST, N.H.

____________________________

BCM Planning, LLC Town of Amherst, NH
Bruce C. Mayberry, Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.
Principal             Town Administrator

Date: Date: ______________________

Page 16 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Mont Vernon Rd. CE & Construction 
Bids/Approvals 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We had a virtual bid opening, managed by Hoyle Tanner, on February 23 at 2pm for the 
Mont Vernon Rd. bridge construction, planned to commence in May this year.  We 
received three bids for this project.  The low bidder was Neil H. Daniels, Inc., at 
$747,135.00.  This bid was lower than Hoyle Tanner's estimate for this project, at 
$762,167.50.  Hoyle Tanner prepared a bid summary and analysis.  Their summary 
concludes with a recommendation to award this work to Daniels.  I agreed with their 
conclusion.  Hoyle Tanner sent this information to NH DOT for 
approval/concurrence.  Upon acceptance from NH DOT, we will need BOS approval to 
enter into an agreement with Daniels.  We anticipate NH DOT approval, but at the time 
of this report, we did not yet have their approval letter.  We seek BOS approval tonight, 
on the condition that we receive formal approval from NH DOT, to award the bridge 
construction work to Neil H. Daniels for the amount of $747,135.00. 
 
In addition to bridge construction, NH State law requires a different engineering firm to 
conduct construction engineering services (CE) than the preliminary design 
engineer.  We solicited engineering firms through the required RFQ process.  Two firms 
submitted qualifications.  After internal review, we selected GPI based on 
qualifications.  We then entered into scope and fee negotiations with GPI upon 
concurrence with our selection from NH DOT.  The GPI figure was reasonable and 
similar to estimates provided by Hoyle Tanner.  We will also need BOS approval to 
award the CE work for this project to GPI.  NH DOT has informed us via email that they 
approved the GPI scope and fee.  They further explained that formal approval for CE 
will come in the same letter of approval for bridge construction.  Therefore, we also 
seek BOS approval tonight, on the condition that we receive formal approval from NH 
DOT, to award the CE services to GPI in the amount of $118,364.76. 
 
Also included in this report is the scope and fee for the HTA CE services as engineer of 
record. This fee is $21,992. 
 
All fees in this report are subject to the State Aid Bridge (SAB) program of which the 
Town is responsible for 20%.  The remaining 80% is paid for by the Town and 
reimbursed by NH DOT.   
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    

Page 17 of 159



$177,498.352 (Town portion of 80/20SAB [$887,491.76]) from Bridge Repair and 
Replacement CRF  
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend to award construction to Neil H. Daniels for $747,135, and Construction 
Engineering to GPI and Hoyle Tanner for $118,364.76 and $21,992 respectively. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award the Mont Vernon Rd. bridge construction work to Neil H. Daniels for 
the amount of $747,135.00. I further move to approve the  qualifications-based 
selection of GPI and their corresponding fee of $118,364.76.  Lastly, I move to approve 
Hoyle Tanner's construction engineering fee of $21,992 as the engineer of record 
during the construction phase. All awards are contingent upon formal approval from NH 
DOT, upon which all related documents and agreements may be signed by the Town 
Administrator as per prior authorization from this Board. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 40654-Amherst-NHDOT Notice of Low Bid 
2. 40654 GPI Scope & Fee Proposal 23.01.12 
3. Terracon Scope 
4. MV Bridge award w-o tabulation 
5. RFQ Mont Vernon Rd_award 
6. HTA CE Phase Engineer of Record 
7. GPI-Amherst Contract Agreement 
8. CE letter to DOT 2-3-23 
9. Final Plan and QBS CE approval-email 
10. RFQ letter to DOT with attachments 12-8-22 
11. Amherst Bridge CRF Rev 2023_1_3 PDF 
 

Page 18 of 159



 

 

 

 

February 28, 2023 

 

Mr. Kevin Russell, PE 

Project Manager 

NHDOT, Bureau of Planning and Community Assistance 

John O. Morton Building, Room G01 

7 Hazen Drive, PO Box 483 

Concord, NH 03302-0483 

 

Re: Bid Summary and Analysis 

Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook 

NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071 / NHDOT Project No. 40654 

 Hoyle Tanner Project No. 21.919110.00 

 

Dear Kevin: 

 

Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc. (Hoyle Tanner) has reviewed the bids received for the above-referenced 

project. A tabulation of these bids and a bid analysis is enclosed for your review. The purpose of this 

letter is to summarize the bid results and to make a recommendation of award.   

The bids were opened at 2:00 pm on February 23, 2023 through a Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting. 

Three bid proposals were received, and the following is a summary of the results: 

 

Engineers Estimate:    

Hoyle, Tanner & Associates Inc.  Total Estimate:  $762,167.50 

     Neil H. Daniels, Inc.   Total Bid:  $747,135.00 

Northeast Earth Mechanics, LLC. Total Bid:  $843,699.50 

New England Infrastructure, Inc. Total Bid:  $1,234,567.89 

All bids received were responsive and all three contractors are considered responsible since the bid 

documentation contained the required bid bond in the amount of 5% of the bid price as well as the 

necessary documentation of the required NHDOT Prequalification Status. Neil H. Daniels, Inc. (Daniels) is 

the low bidder, and their total bid price is $15,032.50 lower than the January 2023 Engineer’s Estimate, 

or 2% lower.  

 

The enclosed bid tabulation is based on multiplying the contract quantities by the bidders’ submitted 

unit prices. There are no discrepancies between our bid tabulation and the bid schedule submitted by 

the bidders. 

 

The number of competitive bids for this project is three. Bids were evaluated utilizing NHDOT’s 

recommended bid analysis process, as outlined in the “Bid Phase” portion of the NHDOT LPA Training. 

Per NHDOT, the significance level for contracts valued below $2,000,000 is $15,000; there are 2 items 

that deviate from the Engineer’s Estimate by more than that amount. All items were evaluated for 

Page 19 of 159



Bid Summary and Analysis  Page 2 

40654 - Amherst  

reasonableness and unbalancing, and narratives addressing any deviations are provided in the enclosed 

bid analysis tabulation. There does not appear to be any evidence of unbalanced unit pricing for any of 

the bid items that would either give the bidder an unfair advantage or be of disadvantage to the Owner. 

 

In addition to reviewing the reasonableness of individual bid items, the subtotaled cost of applicable 

bridge-related items was evaluated utilizing NHDOT’s slope-intercept bridge costing procedure as 

outlined in Chapters 1 and 2 of the NHDOT Bridge Design Manual (BDM). Non-applicable bridge items, 

or items excluded from the slope intercept cost, are those listed in Article 1.4 of the BDM. This approach 

yields a cost of $310 per square foot of slope-intercept bridge area for the low bid.  

Approach roadway costs were also evaluated for this project and the low bid had a cost of $847 per 

foot. 

Daniels is prequalified with NHDOT in the category of Bridge Construction. Hoyle Tanner finds Daniels to 

be a bridge contractor capable of performing the work required for this project. 

After reviewing and analyzing the bids received and the bridge experience and capabilities of Daniels, 

we recommend award of the project to Neil H. Daniels. 

Sincerely, 

HOYLE TANNER 

 

 

Joseph C. Ripley, PE 

Project Manager 

 

Enclosures 

 

cc: E. Slosek – Amherst, NH DPW Director 

 T. Lemire, PE  - GPI, Inc. 

 

Page 20 of 159



Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

201.1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F) A 0.1 $75,000.00 $7,500.00 $25,000.00 $2,500.00 $135,000.00 $13,500.00 $41,000.00 $4,100.00

202.42 REMOVAL OF EXISTING PIPE OVER 24" DIAMETER LF 86 $175.00 $15,050.00 $50.00 $4,300.00 $45.00 $3,870.00 $125.00 $10,750.00

202.7 REMOVAL OF GUARDRAIL LF 110 $10.00 $1,100.00 $5.00 $550.00 $10.00 $1,100.00 $24.00 $2,640.00

203.1 COMMON EXCAVATION CY 285 $25.00 $7,125.00 $20.00 $5,700.00 $15.00 $4,275.00 $60.00 $17,100.00

203.5571 EAGRT PLATFORM PREFERRED, TL 2 - 25' U 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,030.00 $2,030.00

203.5572 EAGRT PLATFORM ALTERNATE, TL 2 - 25' U 2 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,030.00 $4,060.00

203.6 EMBANKMENT-IN-PLACE (F) CY 80 $30.00 $2,400.00 $20.00 $1,600.00 $15.00 $1,200.00 $70.00 $5,600.00

207.3 UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION CY 265 $40.00 $10,600.00 $40.00 $10,600.00 $25.00 $6,625.00 $50.00 $13,250.00

209.201 GRANULAR BACKFILL (BRIDGE) (F) CY 155 $50.00 $7,750.00 $60.00 $9,300.00 $100.00 $15,500.00 $70.00 $10,850.00

214 FINE GRADING U 1 $4,400.00 $4,400.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $11,100.00 $11,100.00

304.3 CRUSHED GRAVEL (F) CY 100 $55.00 $5,500.00 $65.00 $6,500.00 $50.00 $5,000.00 $63.00 $6,300.00

304.31 CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR SHIMMING CY 225 $55.00 $12,375.00 $65.00 $14,625.00 $50.00 $11,250.00 $60.00 $13,500.00

304.35 CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR DRIVES CY 8 $55.00 $440.00 $65.00 $520.00 $51.00 $408.00 $200.00 $1,600.00

403.11023 HBP-3/4" BINDER MIX, MACHINE METHOD TON 155 $150.00 $23,250.00 $175.00 $27,125.00 $140.00 $21,700.00 $200.00 $31,000.00

403.11043 HBP-1/2" SURFACE MIX, MACHINE METHOD TON 80 $175.00 $14,000.00 $175.00 $14,000.00 $180.00 $14,400.00 $210.00 $16,800.00

403.12 HBP-HAND METHOD TON 11 $200.00 $2,200.00 $175.00 $1,925.00 $200.00 $2,200.00 $230.00 $2,530.00

403.16 PAVEMENT JOINT ADHESIVE LF 875 $3.50 $3,062.50 $5.00 $4,375.00 $2.00 $1,750.00 $2.00 $1,750.00

410.22 ASPHALT EMULSION FOR TACK COAT GAL 28 $18.00 $504.00 $30.00 $840.00 $20.00 $560.00 $5.00 $140.00

417 COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS SURFACES SY 25 $100.00 $2,500.00 $90.00 $2,250.00 $60.00 $1,500.00 $160.00 $4,000.00

503.101 WATER DIVERSION STRUCTURE U 1 $67,000.00 $67,000.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $83,000.00 $83,000.00

503.201 COFFERDAMS U 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $280,000.00 $280,000.00

504.1 COMMON BRIDGE EXCAVATION (F) CY 530 $40.00 $21,200.00 $40.00 $21,200.00 $30.00 $15,900.00 $50.00 $26,500.00

504.2 ROCK BRIDGE EXCAVATION CY 30 $120.00 $3,600.00 $75.00 $2,250.00 $200.00 $6,000.00 $1.00 $30.00

508 STRUCTURAL FILL CY 23 $50.00 $1,150.00 $100.00 $2,300.00 $100.00 $2,300.00 $95.00 $2,185.00

520.12 CONCRETE CLASS A, ABOVE FOOTINGS (F) CY 16 $1,400.00 $22,400.00 $1,500.00 $24,000.00 $700.00 $11,200.00 $900.00 $14,400.00

520.213 CONCRETE CLASS B, FOOTINGS (ON SOIL) (F) CY 35 $1,000.00 $35,000.00 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 $500.00 $17,500.00 $1,600.00 $56,000.00

529.011 PRECAST CONCRETE RIGID FRAME U 1 $150,000.00 $150,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $315,000.00 $315,000.00 $100,400.00 $100,400.00

534.3 WATER REPELLENT (SILANE/SILOXANE) GAL 7 $75.00 $525.00 $150.00 $1,050.00 $100.00 $700.00 $170.00 $1,190.00

538.2 BARRIER MEMBRANE, PEEL AND STICK - VERTICAL SURFACES (F) SY 60 $70.00 $4,200.00 $75.00 $4,500.00 $50.00 $3,000.00 $300.00 $18,000.00

538.5 BARRIER MEMBRANE, HEAT WELDED (F) SY 67 $75.00 $5,025.00 $75.00 $5,025.00 $100.00 $6,700.00 $91.00 $6,097.00

544.3 REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED) LB 4600 $3.00 $13,800.00 $1.50 $6,900.00 $2.00 $9,200.00 $3.00 $13,800.00

562.1 SILICONE JOINT SEALANT (F) LF 66 $20.00 $1,320.00 $15.00 $990.00 $25.00 $1,650.00 $50.00 $3,300.00

563.22 BRIDGE RAIL T2 LF 51 $235.00 $11,985.00 $300.00 $15,300.00 $250.00 $12,750.00 $262.00 $13,362.00

565.222 BRIDGE APPROACH RAIL T2 (STEEL POSTS) U 4 $8,000.00 $32,000.00 $8,500.00 $34,000.00 $7,210.00 $28,840.00 $7,500.00 $30,000.00

572.1 RECONSTRUCTING STONE WALL ONE STONE WIDE LF 30 $100.00 $3,000.00 $100.00 $3,000.00 $51.00 $1,530.00 $420.00 $12,600.00

583.4 RIPRAP CLASS IV CY 200 $75.00 $15,000.00 $100.00 $20,000.00 $50.00 $10,000.00 $74.00 $14,800.00

592.3 CONCRETE FACED RETAINING WALL SYSTEM SF 888 $80.00 $71,040.00 $75.00 $66,600.00 $50.00 $44,400.00 $90.00 $79,920.00

593.411 GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-WOVEN SY 340 $5.00 $1,700.00 $3.00 $1,020.00 $4.50 $1,530.00 $12.00 $4,080.00

603.36115 15" ALUMINIZED STEEL END SECTION EA 2 $350.00 $700.00 $400.00 $800.00 $250.00 $500.00 $2,800.00 $5,600.00

603.82212 12" PE PIPE (TYPE S) LF 95 $75.00 $7,125.00 $55.00 $5,225.00 $48.00 $4,560.00 $60.00 $5,700.00

606.12551 BEAM GUARDRAIL (TERMINAL UNIT TYPE EAGRT, TL2 - 25') (STEEL POST) U 4 $4,000.00 $16,000.00 $4,500.00 $18,000.00 $3,850.00 $15,400.00 $4,400.00 $17,600.00

606.18001 31" W-BEAM GUARDRAIL WITH 8" OFFSET BLOCK (STEEL POST) LF 75 $35.00 $2,625.00 $45.00 $3,375.00 $39.00 $2,925.00 $40.00 $3,000.00

606.417 PORTABLE CONCRETE BARRIER FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LF 60 $60.00 $3,600.00 $25.00 $1,500.00 $50.00 $3,000.00 $175.00 $10,500.00

609.01 STRAIGHT GRANITE CURB LF 76 $70.00 $5,320.00 $75.00 $5,700.00 $63.00 $4,788.00 $80.00 $6,080.00

618.7 FLAGGERS HR 80 $45.00 $3,600.00 $35.00 $2,800.00 $65.00 $5,200.00 $70.00 $5,600.00

619.1 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC U 1 $11,000.00 $11,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $14,034.89 $14,034.89

02/23/2023 at 2:00 PM EST

Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook, Town of Amherst, NH 

Bid Tabulation

Engineer Estimate Neil H. Daniels, Inc. Northeast Earth Mechanics, LLC New England Infrastructure, Inc.

Page 21 of 159



Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

02/23/2023 at 2:00 PM EST

Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook, Town of Amherst, NH 

Bid Tabulation

Engineer Estimate Neil H. Daniels, Inc. Northeast Earth Mechanics, LLC New England Infrastructure, Inc.

619.25 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN U 2 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 $3,000.00 $6,000.00 $3,500.00 $7,000.00 $3,600.00 $7,200.00

621.2 RETROREFLECTIVE BEAM GUARDRAIL DELINEATOR EA 8 $7.00 $56.00 $10.00 $80.00 $7.00 $56.00 $53.00 $424.00

621.31 SINGLE DELINEATOR WITH POST EA 2 $70.00 $140.00 $65.00 $130.00 $55.00 $110.00 $175.00 $350.00

621.32 DOUBLE DELINEATOR WITH POST EA 2 $80.00 $160.00 $75.00 $150.00 $65.00 $130.00 $175.00 $350.00

622.1 STEEL WITNESS MARKERS EA 1 $40.00 $40.00 $30.00 $30.00 $55.00 $55.00 $250.00 $250.00

628.2 SAWED BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT LF 105 $7.00 $735.00 $5.00 $525.00 $5.00 $525.00 $11.00 $1,155.00

632.0104 RETROREFLECTIVE PAINT PAVE. MARKING, 4" LINE LF 700 $1.50 $1,050.00 $2.00 $1,400.00 $2.00 $1,400.00 $4.00 $2,800.00

645.0002 SEDIMENTATION BASIN U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,200.00 $5,200.00

645.44 TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE FRIENDLY) SY 375 $5.00 $1,875.00 $5.00 $1,875.00 $3.50 $1,312.50 $28.00 $10,500.00

645.512 COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM LF 690 $6.00 $4,140.00 $6.00 $4,140.00 $5.50 $3,795.00 $12.00 $8,280.00

645.531 SILT FENCE LF 690 $5.00 $3,450.00 $4.00 $2,760.00 $5.50 $3,795.00 $8.00 $5,520.00

645.7 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,800.00 $5,800.00

645.72 MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS EA 26 $150.00 $3,900.00 $350.00 $9,100.00 $100.00 $2,600.00 $875.00 $22,750.00

645.73 FINAL WETLAND IMPACT REPORT U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,500.00 $3,500.00

646.512 TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, TACKIFIERS AND LOAM (F) SY 410 $15.00 $6,150.00 $20.00 $8,200.00 $11.00 $4,510.00 $21.00 $8,610.00

692 MOBILIZATION U 1 $69,300.00 $69,300.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $160,000.00 $160,000.00

699 MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL $ 5000 $1.00 $5,000.00 $1.00 $5,000.00 $1.00 $5,000.00 $1.00 $5,000.00

$762,167.50 $747,135.00 $843,699.50 $1,234,567.89Base Bid Total:

Page 22 of 159



Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

201.1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F) A 0.1 $75,000.00 $7,500.00 $25,000.00 $2,500.00 -$5,000.00 -0.67% 1

202.42 REMOVAL OF EXISTING PIPE OVER 24" DIAMETER LF 86 $175.00 $15,050.00 $50.00 $4,300.00 -$10,750.00 -1.44% 1

202.7 REMOVAL OF GUARDRAIL LF 110 $10.00 $1,100.00 $5.00 $550.00 -$550.00 -0.07% 1

203.1 COMMON EXCAVATION CY 285 $25.00 $7,125.00 $20.00 $5,700.00 -$1,425.00 -0.19% 1

203.5571 EAGRT PLATFORM PREFERRED, TL 2 - 25' U 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 -$1,000.00 -0.13% 1

203.5572 EAGRT PLATFORM ALTERNATE, TL 2 - 25' U 2 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 -$2,000.00 -0.27% 1

203.6 EMBANKMENT-IN-PLACE (F) CY 80 $30.00 $2,400.00 $20.00 $1,600.00 -$800.00 -0.11% 1

207.3 UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION CY 265 $40.00 $10,600.00 $40.00 $10,600.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

209.201 GRANULAR BACKFILL (BRIDGE) (F) CY 155 $50.00 $7,750.00 $60.00 $9,300.00 + $1,550.00 0.21% 1

214 FINE GRADING U 1 $4,400.00 $4,400.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 -$1,900.00 -0.25% 1

304.3 CRUSHED GRAVEL (F) CY 100 $55.00 $5,500.00 $65.00 $6,500.00 + $1,000.00 0.13% 1

304.31 CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR SHIMMING CY 225 $55.00 $12,375.00 $65.00 $14,625.00 + $2,250.00 0.30% 1

304.35 CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR DRIVES CY 8 $55.00 $440.00 $65.00 $520.00 + $80.00 0.01% 1

403.11023 HBP-3/4" BINDER MIX, MACHINE METHOD TON 155 $150.00 $23,250.00 $175.00 $27,125.00 + $3,875.00 0.52% 1

403.11043 HBP-1/2" SURFACE MIX, MACHINE METHOD TON 80 $175.00 $14,000.00 $175.00 $14,000.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

403.12 HBP-HAND METHOD TON 11 $200.00 $2,200.00 $175.00 $1,925.00 -$275.00 -0.04% 1

403.16 PAVEMENT JOINT ADHESIVE LF 875 $3.50 $3,062.50 $5.00 $4,375.00 + $1,312.50 0.18% 1

410.22 ASPHALT EMULSION FOR TACK COAT GAL 28 $18.00 $504.00 $30.00 $840.00 + $336.00 0.04% 1

417 COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS SURFACES SY 25 $100.00 $2,500.00 $90.00 $2,250.00 -$250.00 -0.03% 1

503.101 WATER DIVERSION STRUCTURE U 1 $67,000.00 $67,000.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 -$12,000.00 -1.61% 1

503.201 COFFERDAMS U 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

504.1 COMMON BRIDGE EXCAVATION (F) CY 530 $40.00 $21,200.00 $40.00 $21,200.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

504.2 ROCK BRIDGE EXCAVATION CY 30 $120.00 $3,600.00 $75.00 $2,250.00 -$1,350.00 -0.18% 1

508 STRUCTURAL FILL CY 23 $50.00 $1,150.00 $100.00 $2,300.00 + $1,150.00 0.15% 1

520.12 CONCRETE CLASS A, ABOVE FOOTINGS (F) CY 16 $1,400.00 $22,400.00 $1,500.00 $24,000.00 + $1,600.00 0.21% 1

520.213 CONCRETE CLASS B, FOOTINGS (ON SOIL) (F) CY 35 $1,000.00 $35,000.00 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 + $17,500.00 2.34%

This is a well defined final pay item. Hoyle Tanner has re-checked 

this quantity and verified that it is accurate. The B and C bid values 

range from $500 (B Bidder) to $1,600 (C Bidder). 

The difference in unit price appears to present no advantage to the 

Bidder nor disadvantage to the Owner.

529.011 PRECAST CONCRETE RIGID FRAME U 1 $150,000.00 $150,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 -$25,000.00 -3.35%

This is a well defined item that is paid for as a unit. This item is 

often difficult to estimate based on precast fabricator pricing, 

shipping costs, and if the contractor will self-perform the installation 

or rely on a subcontractor. The B and C bid values range from 

$100,400 (C Bidder) to $315,000 (B Bidder).

The difference in unit price appears to present no advantage to the 

Bidder nor disadvantage to the Owner.

534.3 WATER REPELLENT (SILANE/SILOXANE) GAL 7 $75.00 $525.00 $150.00 $1,050.00 + $525.00 0.07% 1

538.2 BARRIER MEMBRANE, PEEL AND STICK - VERTICAL SURFACES (F) SY 60 $70.00 $4,200.00 $75.00 $4,500.00 + $300.00 0.04% 1

538.5 BARRIER MEMBRANE, HEAT WELDED (F) SY 67 $75.00 $5,025.00 $75.00 $5,025.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

544.3 REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED) LB 4600 $3.00 $13,800.00 $1.50 $6,900.00 -$6,900.00 -0.92% 1

562.1 SILICONE JOINT SEALANT (F) LF 66 $20.00 $1,320.00 $15.00 $990.00 -$330.00 -0.04% 1

563.22 BRIDGE RAIL T2 LF 51 $235.00 $11,985.00 $300.00 $15,300.00 + $3,315.00 0.44% 1

565.222 BRIDGE APPROACH RAIL T2 (STEEL POSTS) U 4 $8,000.00 $32,000.00 $8,500.00 $34,000.00 + $2,000.00 0.27% 1

572.1 RECONSTRUCTING STONE WALL ONE STONE WIDE LF 30 $100.00 $3,000.00 $100.00 $3,000.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

583.4 RIPRAP CLASS IV CY 200 $75.00 $15,000.00 $100.00 $20,000.00 + $5,000.00 0.67% 1

592.3 CONCRETE FACED RETAINING WALL SYSTEM SF 888 $80.00 $71,040.00 $75.00 $66,600.00 -$4,440.00 -0.59% 1

593.411 GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-WOVEN SY 340 $5.00 $1,700.00 $3.00 $1,020.00 -$680.00 -0.09% 1

603.36115 15" ALUMINIZED STEEL END SECTION EA 2 $350.00 $700.00 $400.00 $800.00 + $100.00 0.01% 1

603.82212 12" PE PIPE (TYPE S) LF 95 $75.00 $7,125.00 $55.00 $5,225.00 -$1,900.00 -0.25% 1

606.12551 BEAM GUARDRAIL (TERMINAL UNIT TYPE EAGRT, TL2 - 25') (STEEL POST) U 4 $4,000.00 $16,000.00 $4,500.00 $18,000.00 + $2,000.00 0.27% 1

606.18001 31" W-BEAM GUARDRAIL WITH 8" OFFSET BLOCK (STEEL POST) LF 75 $35.00 $2,625.00 $45.00 $3,375.00 + $750.00 0.10% 1

606.417 PORTABLE CONCRETE BARRIER FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LF 60 $60.00 $3,600.00 $25.00 $1,500.00 -$2,100.00 -0.28% 1

609.01 STRAIGHT GRANITE CURB LF 76 $70.00 $5,320.00 $75.00 $5,700.00 + $380.00 0.05% 1

618.7 FLAGGERS HR 80 $45.00 $3,600.00 $35.00 $2,800.00 -$800.00 -0.11% 1

619.1 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC U 1 $11,000.00 $11,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 + $9,000.00 1.20% 1

BID ANALYSIS
Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook, Town of Amherst, NH 

Engineer Estimate Neil H. Daniels, Inc.

LOW BID LOW BID ITEM 

AMOUNT 

DIFFERENCE

DIFFERENCE 

AS % OF THE 

TOTAL BID REMARKS

Page 23 of 159



Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

BID ANALYSIS
Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook, Town of Amherst, NH 

Engineer Estimate Neil H. Daniels, Inc.

LOW BID LOW BID ITEM 

AMOUNT 

DIFFERENCE

DIFFERENCE 

AS % OF THE 

TOTAL BID REMARKS

619.25 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN U 2 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 $3,000.00 $6,000.00 -$4,000.00 -0.54% 1

621.2 RETROREFLECTIVE BEAM GUARDRAIL DELINEATOR EA 8 $7.00 $56.00 $10.00 $80.00 + $24.00 0.00% 1

621.31 SINGLE DELINEATOR WITH POST EA 2 $70.00 $140.00 $65.00 $130.00 -$10.00 0.00% 1

621.32 DOUBLE DELINEATOR WITH POST EA 2 $80.00 $160.00 $75.00 $150.00 -$10.00 0.00% 1

622.1 STEEL WITNESS MARKERS EA 1 $40.00 $40.00 $30.00 $30.00 -$10.00 0.00% 1

628.2 SAWED BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT LF 105 $7.00 $735.00 $5.00 $525.00 -$210.00 -0.03% 1

632.0104 RETROREFLECTIVE PAINT PAVE. MARKING, 4" LINE LF 700 $1.50 $1,050.00 $2.00 $1,400.00 + $350.00 0.05% 1

645.0002 SEDIMENTATION BASIN U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 -$2,000.00 -0.27% 1

645.44 TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE FRIENDLY) SY 375 $5.00 $1,875.00 $5.00 $1,875.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

645.512 COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM LF 690 $6.00 $4,140.00 $6.00 $4,140.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

645.531 SILT FENCE LF 690 $5.00 $3,450.00 $4.00 $2,760.00 -$690.00 -0.09% 1

645.7 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 + $2,000.00 0.27% 1

645.72 MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS EA 26 $150.00 $3,900.00 $350.00 $9,100.00 + $5,200.00 0.70% 1

645.73 FINAL WETLAND IMPACT REPORT U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 + $2,000.00 0.27% 1

646.512 TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, TACKIFIERS AND LOAM (F) SY 410 $15.00 $6,150.00 $20.00 $8,200.00 + $2,050.00 0.27% 1

692 MOBILIZATION U 1 $69,300.00 $69,300.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 + $5,700.00 0.76% 1

699 MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL $ 5000 $1.00 $5,000.00 $1.00 $5,000.00 $0.00 0.00% 1

$762,167.50 $747,135.00

Remark "1" =  The difference in unit price does not appear to present advantage to the Bidder nor disadvantage to the Owner

SIGNIFICANCE LEVEL TRIGGERING EVALUATION OF BID ITEMS: 15,000.00$      

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE AND LOW BID: -1.97%

Base Bid Total:

Page 24 of 159



Hoyle, Tanner Project No. 21.919110

Town of Amherst

Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook

NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071

Sheet: of:

Calc By: JCR Date: 2/2023

Check By: JAH Date: 2/2023

Revised By: Date:

Rev Check By: Date:

SLOPE INTERCEPT AND ROADWAY COST

NOTES AND ASSUMPTIONS

• Calculate the bridge cost using the slope intercept method as outlined in Chapter 2 of the NHDOT BDM.

Bridge Geometry:

Span: 24 ft

West Slope 2 to 1

East Slope Intercept Height: 2.5 to 1

West Slope Intercept Height: 8.0625 ft

East Slope Intercept Height: 7.625 ft

Skew Angle 0 deg

Slope Intercept Length

Slope Intercept Length: 59.1875 ft

Slope Intercept Check: 53.5 ft

( Based on BDM Appendix 2.9-A1 Figure)

Used Slope Intercept Length 53.5 ft

Slope Intercept Cost

Bridge Width (BDM 2.9.1) 24.25 ft

Slope Intercept Bridge Area 1300 ft

Bridge Cost (see next sheet) 407,835.00$  

Bridge Cost Per Square Foot 310.00$          

Roadway Cost Per Foot

Roadway Length 324 ft

Roadway Cost (see next sheet) 274,300.00$  

Roadway Cost Per Foot 847.00$          

K:\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\5-Bid_Construction\_Bid\Bid Analysis\Slope Intercept and Roadway Cost

Page 25 of 159



Hoyle, Tanner Project No. 21.919110

Town of Amherst

Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook

NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071

Sheet: of:

Calc By: JCR Date: 2/2023

Check By: JAH Date: 2/2023

Revised By: Date:

Rev Check By: Date:

SLOPE INTERCEPT AND ROADWAY COST

Bridge Cost

• Items to be excluded for bridge cost are defined in BDM Section  1.4

Low Bid

Item Code UofM Quantity Extension

Bridge 

Item? Bridge Cost

201.1 A 0.1 $2,500.00 N -$                 

202.42 LF 86 $4,300.00 Y 4,300.00$       

202.7 LF 110 $550.00 N -$                 

203.1 CY 285 $5,700.00 N -$                 

203.5571 U 1 $1,500.00 N -$                 

203.5572 U 2 $3,000.00 N -$                 

203.6 CY 80 $1,600.00 N -$                 

207.3 CY 265 $10,600.00 Y 10,600.00$     

209.201 CY 155 $9,300.00 Y 9,300.00$       

214 U 1 $2,500.00 N -$                 

304.3 CY 100 $6,500.00 N -$                 

304.31 CY 225 $14,625.00 N -$                 

304.35 CY 8 $520.00 N -$                 

403.1102 TON 155 $27,125.00 N -$                 

403.1104 TON 80 $14,000.00 N -$                 

403.12 TON 11 $1,925.00 N -$                 

403.16 LF 875 $4,375.00 N -$                 

410.22 GAL 28 $840.00 N -$                 

417 SY 25 $2,250.00 N -$                 

503.101 U 1 $55,000.00 N -$                 

503.201 U 1 $10,000.00 N -$                 

504.1 CY 530 $21,200.00 Y 21,200.00$     

504.2 CY 30 $2,250.00 Y 2,250.00$       

508 CY 23 $2,300.00 Y 2,300.00$       

520.12 CY 16 $24,000.00 Y 24,000.00$     

520.213 CY 35 $52,500.00 Y 52,500.00$     

529.011 U 1 $125,000.00 Y 125,000.00$  

534.3 GAL 7 $1,050.00 Y 1,050.00$       

538.2 SY 60 $4,500.00 Y 4,500.00$       

538.5 SY 67 $5,025.00 Y 5,025.00$       

544.3 LB 4600 $6,900.00 Y 6,900.00$       

562.1 LF 66 $990.00 Y 990.00$          

563.22 LF 51 $15,300.00 Y 15,300.00$     

565.222 U 4 $34,000.00 Y 34,000.00$     

572.1 LF 30 $3,000.00 N -$                 

583.4 CY 200 $20,000.00 Y 20,000.00$     

592.3 SF 888 $66,600.00 Y 66,600.00$     

593.411 SY 340 $1,020.00 Y 1,020.00$       

603.3612 EA 2 $800.00 N -$                 

603.8221 LF 95 $5,225.00 N -$                 

606.1255 U 4 $18,000.00 N -$                 

606.18 LF 75 $3,375.00 N -$                 

606.417 LF 60 $1,500.00 N -$                 

609.01 LF 76 $5,700.00 N -$                 

618.7 HR 80 $2,800.00 N -$                 

619.1 U 1 $20,000.00 N -$                 

619.25 U 2 $6,000.00 N -$                 

621.2 EA 8 $80.00 N -$                 

621.31 EA 2 $130.00 N -$                 

621.32 EA 2 $150.00 N -$                 

622.1 EA 1 $30.00 N -$                 

628.2 LF 105 $525.00 N -$                 

632.0104 LF 700 $1,400.00 N -$                 

645.0002 U 1 $1,000.00 Y 1,000.00$       

645.44 SY 375 $1,875.00 N -$                 

645.512 LF 690 $4,140.00 N -$                 

645.531 LF 690 $2,760.00 N -$                 

645.7 U 1 $5,000.00 N -$                 

TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE FRIENDLY)

COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM

SILT FENCE

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN

SEDIMENTATION BASIN

PORTABLE CONCRETE BARRIER FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL

STRAIGHT GRANITE CURB

FLAGGERS

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC

PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN

RETROREFLECTIVE BEAM GUARDRAIL DELINEATOR

SINGLE DELINEATOR WITH POST

DOUBLE DELINEATOR WITH POST

STEEL WITNESS MARKERS

SAWED BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

RETROREFLECTIVE PAINT PAVE. MARKING, 4" LINE

31" W-BEAM GUARDRAIL WITH 8" OFFSET BLOCK (STEEL POST)

REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED)

SILICONE JOINT SEALANT (F)

BRIDGE RAIL T2

BRIDGE APPROACH RAIL T2 (STEEL POSTS)

RECONSTRUCTING STONE WALL ONE STONE WIDE

RIPRAP CLASS IV

CONCRETE FACED RETAINING WALL SYSTEM

GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-WOVEN

15" ALUMINIZED STEEL END SECTION

12" PE PIPE (TYPE S)

BEAM GUARDRAIL (TERMINAL UNIT TYPE EAGRT, TL2 - 25') (STEEL POST)

PAVEMENT JOINT ADHESIVE

BARRIER MEMBRANE, HEAT WELDED (F)

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS SURFACES

WATER DIVERSION STRUCTURE

COFFERDAMS

COMMON BRIDGE EXCAVATION (F)

ROCK BRIDGE EXCAVATION

STRUCTURAL FILL

CONCRETE CLASS A, ABOVE FOOTINGS (F)

CONCRETE CLASS B, FOOTINGS (ON SOIL) (F)

PRECAST CONCRETE RIGID FRAME

WATER REPELLENT (SILANE/SILOXANE)

BARRIER MEMBRANE, PEEL AND STICK - VERTICAL SURFACES (F)

Item Description

CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F)

REMOVAL OF EXISTING PIPE OVER 24" DIAMETER

REMOVAL OF GUARDRAIL

COMMON EXCAVATION

EAGRT PLATFORM PREFERRED, TL 2 - 25'

EAGRT PLATFORM ALTERNATE, TL 2 - 25'

ASPHALT EMULSION FOR TACK COAT

EMBANKMENT-IN-PLACE (F)

UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION

GRANULAR BACKFILL (BRIDGE) (F)

FINE GRADING

CRUSHED GRAVEL (F)

CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR SHIMMING

CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR DRIVES

HBP-3/4" BINDER MIX, MACHINE METHOD

HBP-1/2" SURFACE MIX, MACHINE METHOD

HBP-HAND METHOD

K:\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\5-Bid_Construction\_Bid\Bid Analysis\Slope Intercept and Roadway Cost

Page 26 of 159



Hoyle, Tanner Project No. 21.919110

Town of Amherst

Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook

NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071

Sheet: of:

Calc By: JCR Date: 2/2023

Check By: JAH Date: 2/2023

Revised By: Date:

Rev Check By: Date:

SLOPE INTERCEPT AND ROADWAY COST

Item Code UofM Quantity Extension

Bridge 

Item? Bridge Cost

645.72 EA 26 $9,100.00 N -$                 

645.73 U 1 $5,000.00 N -$                 

646.512 SY 410 $8,200.00 N -$                 

692 U 1 $75,000.00 N -$                 

699 $ 5000 $5,000.00 N -$                 

$747,135.00 407,835.00$  

Roadway Cost

Low Bid

Item Code UofM Quantity Extension

Roadway 

Item? Roadway Cost

201.1 A 0.1 $2,500.00 Y 2,500.00$       

202.42 LF 86 $4,300.00 N -$                 

202.7 LF 110 $550.00 Y 550.00$          

203.1 CY 285 $5,700.00 Y 5,700.00$       

203.5571 U 1 $1,500.00 Y 1,500.00$       

203.5572 U 2 $3,000.00 Y 3,000.00$       

203.6 CY 80 $1,600.00 Y 1,600.00$       

207.3 CY 265 $10,600.00 N -$                 

209.201 CY 155 $9,300.00 N -$                 

214 U 1 $2,500.00 Y 2,500.00$       

304.3 CY 100 $6,500.00 Y 6,500.00$       

304.31 CY 225 $14,625.00 Y 14,625.00$     

304.35 CY 8 $520.00 Y 520.00$          

403.1102 TON 155 $27,125.00 Y 27,125.00$     

403.1104 TON 80 $14,000.00 Y 14,000.00$     

403.12 TON 11 $1,925.00 Y 1,925.00$       

403.16 LF 875 $4,375.00 Y 4,375.00$       

410.22 GAL 28 $840.00 Y 840.00$          

417 SY 25 $2,250.00 Y 2,250.00$       

503.101 U 1 $55,000.00 N -$                 

503.201 U 1 $10,000.00 N -$                 

504.1 CY 530 $21,200.00 N -$                 

504.2 CY 30 $2,250.00 N -$                 

508 CY 23 $2,300.00 N -$                 

520.12 CY 16 $24,000.00 N -$                 

520.213 CY 35 $52,500.00 N -$                 

529.011 U 1 $125,000.00 N -$                 

534.3 GAL 7 $1,050.00 N -$                 

538.2 SY 60 $4,500.00 N -$                 

538.5 SY 67 $5,025.00 N -$                 

544.3 LB 4600 $6,900.00 N -$                 

562.1 LF 66 $990.00 N -$                 

563.22 LF 51 $15,300.00 N -$                 

565.222 U 4 $34,000.00 N -$                 

572.1 LF 30 $3,000.00 Y 3,000.00$       

583.4 CY 200 $20,000.00 N -$                 

592.3 SF 888 $66,600.00 N -$                 

593.411 SY 340 $1,020.00 N -$                 

603.3612 EA 2 $800.00 Y 800.00$          

603.8221 LF 95 $5,225.00 Y 5,225.00$       

606.1255 U 4 $18,000.00 Y 18,000.00$     

606.18 LF 75 $3,375.00 Y 3,375.00$       

606.417 LF 60 $1,500.00 Y 1,500.00$       

609.01 LF 76 $5,700.00 Y 5,700.00$       

618.7 HR 80 $2,800.00 Y 2,800.00$       

619.1 U 1 $20,000.00 Y 20,000.00$     

619.25 U 2 $6,000.00 Y 6,000.00$       

621.2 EA 8 $80.00 Y 80.00$             

621.31 EA 2 $130.00 Y 130.00$          

TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, TACKIFIERS AND LOAM (F)

MOBILIZATION

MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL

Item Description

MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS

FINAL WETLAND IMPACT REPORT

Item Description

CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F)

REMOVAL OF EXISTING PIPE OVER 24" DIAMETER

REMOVAL OF GUARDRAIL

COMMON EXCAVATION

FINE GRADING

CRUSHED GRAVEL (F)

CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR SHIMMING

CRUSHED GRAVEL FOR DRIVES

HBP-3/4" BINDER MIX, MACHINE METHOD

EAGRT PLATFORM PREFERRED, TL 2 - 25'

EAGRT PLATFORM ALTERNATE, TL 2 - 25'

EMBANKMENT-IN-PLACE (F)

UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION

GRANULAR BACKFILL (BRIDGE) (F)

WATER DIVERSION STRUCTURE

COFFERDAMS

COMMON BRIDGE EXCAVATION (F)

ROCK BRIDGE EXCAVATION

STRUCTURAL FILL

HBP-1/2" SURFACE MIX, MACHINE METHOD

HBP-HAND METHOD

PAVEMENT JOINT ADHESIVE

ASPHALT EMULSION FOR TACK COAT

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS SURFACES

BARRIER MEMBRANE, HEAT WELDED (F)

REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED)

SILICONE JOINT SEALANT (F)

BRIDGE RAIL T2

BRIDGE APPROACH RAIL T2 (STEEL POSTS)

CONCRETE CLASS A, ABOVE FOOTINGS (F)

CONCRETE CLASS B, FOOTINGS (ON SOIL) (F)

PRECAST CONCRETE RIGID FRAME

WATER REPELLENT (SILANE/SILOXANE)

BARRIER MEMBRANE, PEEL AND STICK - VERTICAL SURFACES (F)

12" PE PIPE (TYPE S)

BEAM GUARDRAIL (TERMINAL UNIT TYPE EAGRT, TL2 - 25') (STEEL POST)

31" W-BEAM GUARDRAIL WITH 8" OFFSET BLOCK (STEEL POST)

PORTABLE CONCRETE BARRIER FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL

STRAIGHT GRANITE CURB

RECONSTRUCTING STONE WALL ONE STONE WIDE

RIPRAP CLASS IV

CONCRETE FACED RETAINING WALL SYSTEM

GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-WOVEN

15" ALUMINIZED STEEL END SECTION

FLAGGERS

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC

PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN

RETROREFLECTIVE BEAM GUARDRAIL DELINEATOR

SINGLE DELINEATOR WITH POST

K:\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\5-Bid_Construction\_Bid\Bid Analysis\Slope Intercept and Roadway Cost

Page 27 of 159



Hoyle, Tanner Project No. 21.919110

Town of Amherst

Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook

NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071

Sheet: of:

Calc By: JCR Date: 2/2023

Check By: JAH Date: 2/2023

Revised By: Date:

Rev Check By: Date:

SLOPE INTERCEPT AND ROADWAY COST

Item Code UofM Quantity Extension

Roadway 

Item? Roadway Cost

621.32 EA 2 $150.00 Y 150.00$          

622.1 EA 1 $30.00 Y 30.00$             

628.2 LF 105 $525.00 Y 525.00$          

632.0104 LF 700 $1,400.00 Y 1,400.00$       

645.0002 U 1 $1,000.00 N -$                 

645.44 SY 375 $1,875.00 Y 1,875.00$       

645.512 LF 690 $4,140.00 Y 4,140.00$       

645.531 LF 690 $2,760.00 Y 2,760.00$       

645.7 U 1 $5,000.00 Y 5,000.00$       

645.72 EA 26 $9,100.00 Y 9,100.00$       

645.73 U 1 $5,000.00 Y 5,000.00$       

646.512 SY 410 $8,200.00 Y 8,200.00$       

692 U 1 $75,000.00 Y 75,000.00$     

699 $ 5000 $5,000.00 Y 5,000.00$       

$747,135.00 274,300.00$  

Item Description

DOUBLE DELINEATOR WITH POST

STEEL WITNESS MARKERS

SAWED BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

RETROREFLECTIVE PAINT PAVE. MARKING, 4" LINE

SEDIMENTATION BASIN

MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS

FINAL WETLAND IMPACT REPORT

TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, TACKIFIERS AND LOAM (F)

MOBILIZATION

MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL

TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE FRIENDLY)

COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM

SILT FENCE

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN

K:\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\5-Bid_Construction\_Bid\Bid Analysis\Slope Intercept and Roadway Cost

Page 28 of 159



 

 Greenman-Pedersen, Inc.                 116 South River Road, Building B, Suite 1                  Bedford, NH 03110               p 603.766.8259

An Equal Opportunity Employer

Ref: NEX-2200408.00

January 12, 2023 VIA EMAIL

Mr. Eric Slosek
Director, Public Work
Town of Amherst
22 Dodge Road
Amherst, NH 03031

Subject: Mont Vernon Road Bridge Replacement – Scope & Fee Proposal
NH Project No. 40654

Dear Mr. Slosek:

Greenman-Pedersen, Inc. (GPI) is excited to present this Proposal to the Town of Amherst to provide 
Construction Engineering Services on the Mont Vernon Road Bridge Replacement project.  

Based on coordination with the Town, it is our understanding that the goal is to provide a part-time 
Resident Engineer as well as support Quality Assurance services for this estimated 20-week 
construction project in Amherst, NH.  The following scope of work further details the services 
anticipated to be required on this project.

Task 1 – Resident Engineering & Inspection Services

Scope:

GPI will provide a part-time Resident Engineer (RE).  Services will be performed to fulfill the 
requirements for the construction phase of the State Bridge Aid program.  Services anticipated to be 
provided include: 

 Field inspection 
 Reporting to stakeholders after inspections
 Review & approval of monthly pay estimates to contractor
 Traffic control and site safety monitoring
 Control of materials and coordination of materials testing subconsultant
 Red line as-builts
 Balance and excess at 50%, 75%, 90% project completion, or as requested

It is our understanding that this work is likely to be performed in 2023, GPI will work with the Town to 
staff an RE based on the advertisement date and expected work schedule.  For budgeting purposes, it 
is assumed that the Resident Engineer will be performing inspections on-site between four and five 
days per week for approximately 32 hours each week depending on contractor operations and 
cooperation.  Significant contractor operations are expected to include: water diversion, drainage 
installation, bridge excavation and foundations, stream channel installation, box culvert placement, 
bridge rail construction, roadway shim earthwork, and concrete retaining wall construction.  With 
providing part-time services, GPI will make every effort to effectively staff major operations and 
coordinate with the contractor accordingly.

      
   

Page 29 of 159



Mr. Eric Slosek
January 12, 2023
Page 2 of 3

Fee:

GPI estimates that completion of this Task will require 20 weeks of service for the RE.  An estimated 
fee of $69,374.34 has been established for this assignment.  This fee is estimated according to an 
actual cost plus fee schedule.   

Task 2 – Construction Administration
Scope:

GPI will provide a NH registered Professional Engineer (P.E.) construction manager as needed for 
during construction activities.   Services anticipated to be required may include, but are not limited to: 
    

 Conduct a pre-construction meeting with the Town of Amherst, project stakeholders, impacted 
utility owners, and the contractors 

 *Review and approval of shop drawings and material submissions
 Consultation with the Town and project stakeholders
 *Respond to requests for information (RFI) and change orders from the Contractor.  Ensure the 

scope is appropriate and adequate documentation is received to substantiate any change 
request

 Participation at monthly construction progress meetings (when requested)
 Consultation and advice during construction
 Attendance at a final inspection
 Preparation and development of a punch list prior to substantial completion
 Certification that all work is completed in accordance with the contract documents
 Conduct project close out, including final pay estimate and compilation of record documents

*Submittals, change orders, and RFI’s related to the below list will be reviewed by the engineer of 
record.  All others will be reviewed by GPI:

 Reinforced steel
 Precast concrete rigid frame fabrication drawings
 Concrete faced retaining wall system fabrication drawings and calculations
 Bridge rail and bridge approach rail

Fee:

GPI estimates that completion of this Task will require 20 weeks of service based on the specified 
contract duration as shown in the project manual.  An estimated fee $26,242.92 has been established 
for this assignment. This fee is estimated according to an actual cost plus fee schedule.   

Task 3 – Materials Testing

Scope:

GPI will work with Terracon as a subconsultant for materials testing and fabrication services.  Quality 

Assurance materials testing services will be performed according the NHDOT Quality Assurance 

Program for Municipally Managed Federal-aid Projects.  The following materials are anticipated to be 

tested as part of this project:

Page 30 of 159



Mr. Eric Slosek
January 12, 2023
Page 3 of 3

Soils

 Gradation

 Compaction

Concrete

 Compressive Strength

 Slump

 Temperature

 Air Entrainment


Off-Site Box Culvert Fabrication

 Formwork inspection

 Review QC concrete testing

 Concrete placement/curing inspection

 Post cure inspection of all box culvert pieces

Fee:

GPI is proposing the $17,835.00 has been quoted by our subconsultant as a not to exceed fee for this 
task.  The proposal includes all labor, testing, travel and other direct costs associated with the project 
billed as a direct expense. 

Total Fee:

With GPI expenses limited to mileage for travel, the total submitted fee estimate of $118,364.76 has 
been established for all labor, expenses and materials testing for this project.  This proposal is based 
on the above listed assumptions of the expected construction schedule and NHDOT approved audited 
overhead rates.  The rates are to remain fixed for the duration of the contract.  The field and office 
overhead rates are 129.17% and 165.08% respectively.  The submitted fee estimate also assumes that 
actual cost plus 10% fee will be applied for the duration of the contract.   

We thank you for considering GPI for this opportunity and look forward to continuing to work with the Town of 
Amherst on this project.  If you have any questions or require further detail, please do not hesitate to contact 
me by phone at (603) 766-8252 or email at tlemire@gpinet.com.

Sincerely,

GREENMAN-PEDERSEN, INC.

Timothy Lemire, P.E.
Assistant Vice President
Director of Construction Engineering

Page 31 of 159

mailto:tlemire@gpinet.com


GREENMAN-PEDERSEN,INC.

Construction Engineering Fee Estimate

Bridge Replacement Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook

DATE: Janauray 12, 2023

Project Manager Resident Engineer Construction/Bridge
InspectorTask No. Description: Construction Engineering Total

1 Resident Engineering & Inspection Services 0
a) Resident Engineer 20 weeks @ 32 Hours Per Week 640 640
b) Overtime (if applicable) 0 weeks @ 0 Hours Per Week 0

2 Construction Administration 20 weeks @ 6 Hours Per Week 120 120

Total Proposed Hours 120 640 0 640

AVERAGE DIRECT LABOR RATES ($ per hour) $75.00 $43.00 $36.00
TOTAL DIRECT LABOR $9,000.00 $27,520.00 $0.00 $36,520.00
INDIRECT LABOR @ 129.17% %  OFFICE INDIRECT LAB 165.08% % $14,857.20 $35,547.58 $0.00 $50,404.78
NET FEE @ 10% % $2,385.72 $6,306.76 $0.00 $8,692.48
Premium Portion of Overtime - - - $0.00

TOTAL LABOR & OVERHEAD & FEE $26,242.92 $69,374.34 $0.00 $95,617.26

DIRECT EXPENSES     
MATERIALS TESTING & FABRICATION INSPECTION $17,835.00
LOCAL TRAVEL ALLOWANCE (75 miles per day for 20 Weeks) 7,500 $0.655 $4,912.50
PER DIEM (0 Days a Week for 0 Weeks) $0.00 $0.00

$0.00
Total Direct Expenses $22,747.50

Total $118,364.76
REV 01-11
1. THIS ESTIMATE ASSUMES 20 WEEKS OF PART-TIME CONSTRUCTION SERVICES
2. MILEAGE WILL BILLED AT THE YEARLY ESTABLISHED FEDERAL RATE
3. THIS ESTIMATE ASSUMES THAT THE RE  WILL BE STAFFED LOCALLY COMMUTING TO THE PROJECT DAILY.
4. PROJECT MANAGER HOURS ARE CALCULATED WITH OFFICE OH, RESIDENT ENGINEER AND INSPECTOR HOURS USE FIELD OH.

Page 32 of 159



Page 33 of 159

tlemire
Line

tlemire_1
Line



Page 34 of 159



Page 35 of 159

tlemire_2
Line



Page 36 of 159

tlemire_3
Line

tlemire_4
Line

tlemire_5
Typewritten Text
$17,835.00



TOWN OF AMHERST

Town Department: DPW Date: 3/8/2023

Line Item: CRF Bridges Budget Amount: CRF

Bid#: Item: Mont Vernon Rd Bridge Date Bid To Be Awarded: March 13, 2023

Vendor Price

Hoyle, Tanner & Assoc.
1.

Total 

762,167.50

Other Considerations

2. Neil H. Daniels, Inc. 747,135.00 Constructed Manchester Rd. Bridge; (80/20 SAB)

3. Northeast Earth Mechanics, LLC 843,699.50

4. New England Infrastructure, Inc. 1,234,567.89

5.

6

Recommend bid be awarded to: Neil H. Daniels
Signature of Town Administrator/ Date

Please attach to this request a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.

This bid has been posted on Construction Summary; Dodge Data & Analytics; New Hampshire Municipal Association; Associated 
General Contractor of New Hampshire and the Amherst NH website.

15,000.00
·1.97%

Page 37 of 159



TOWN OF AMHERST
         

Town Department:   DPW Date:  March 8, 2023

Line Item: Mont Vernon Rd. Construction Engineering Budget Amount:  CRF

Bid #:  Item:  Date To Be Awarded:  March 13, 2023

          Vendor                                    Price                            Total                        Other Considerations
                                                                                                                                    

Recommend bid be awarded to:  GPI  
                                                                                                                                      Signature of Town Administrator / Date

Please attach to this request a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.

This bid has been posted on Construction Summary; Dodge Data & Analytics; New Hampshire Municipal Association; Associated 
General Contractor of New Hampshire and the Amherst NH website.

          
1.     GPI                                                                                                                           Received Qualifications 

                                                                                                                                     Fee is $118,364.76 (80/20 SAB)

2.     Quantum Construction Consultants                                                                        Received Qualifications                                                        
            
                   

3.     CMA Engineers                                                                                                       No Submission            
                       
                   

4.     Dubois & King                                                                                                         No Submission        
 

                   
.

                     

5.    Fuss & O’Neill                                                                                                          No Submission

6.    HEB Engineers                                                                                                        No Submission

Page 38 of 159



Page 1

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
MONT VERNON ROAD OVER CEASARS BROOK

NHDOT BRIDGE NO. 112/071

This is an agreement between the Town of Amherst, New Hampshire (Client) and Hoyle, Tanner & 
Associates, Inc. (Consultant) for professional services for the Client’s project which is generally described as 
Mont Vernon Road Over Ceasars Brook, NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071. The Consultant’s services under this 
agreement are generally described as follows: construction engineering services including coordination with 
the Client, Construction Engineer, and Contractor; shop drawing review; limited observation of construction 
activities; and preparation of NHDOT Form 4.

The effective date of this Agreement is . Client and Consultant further agree as 
follows:

Article 1: Scope of Services

Consultant shall provide the services set forth in Exhibit A.

Article 2: Client’s Responsibilities:

Client shall provide to Consultant all of Client’s criteria and information as to requirements for the Project 
including objectives, constraints, performance requirements, and budgetary limitations.

Client shall provide Consultant with all information available to Client pertinent to Consultant’s work under 
this Agreement. Client shall assist Consultant as necessary to obtain available pertinent information from 
Federal, State or local offices or from other engineers or others who have previously worked for Client on 
matters affecting this Project. Client shall also make available all information Client may have relative to 
concealed, subsurface, soil, and other conditions that are not apparent from visual, non-invasive, and non-
destructive observations of the applicable site.

It may be necessary for Consultant’s personnel and/or subconsultants to enter areas of the Project property. 
Client shall arrange for and provide Consultant with access to such areas on a timely basis.

Client shall examine all documents prepared for the Project by Consultant; and at Client’s option, obtain advice 
from legal counsel, insurance counsel, and other appropriate advisors, and advise Consultant of any opinion 
or recommendations resulting from said advice.

Client shall give prompt notice to Consultant whenever Client becomes aware of anything that would have a 
significant effect on the scope or timing of Consultant’s services.

Client shall bear all costs related to compliance with this Article of this Agreement.

If Client engages a construction manager or any other professionals for the Project in addition to Consultant; 
Client must define the duties and responsibilities of each professional services provider.

Page 39 of 159



Page 2

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

During the construction of the project it is recommended Client or his/her designated representative, other 
than Consultant, attend the following meetings: Pre-construction bid meeting, bid opening, pre-construction 
conference, construction progress meetings, and Project completion meetings.

Client shall advise Consultant of any safety or security programs which may be applicable to Consultant during 
Project site visits.

Client shall make decisions and perform other Client responsibilities in a timely manner so as not to delay 
Consultant’s performance of services.

Client’s responsibilities may include those agreed upon and identified in Exhibit A.

Article 3: Schedule

Consultant is authorized to begin providing services on the effective date of the Agreement. Consultant shall 
perform services in conformance with the schedule guided by and subject at all times to sound judgment and 
practice in accordance with law and professional ethics.

If the schedule changes or orderly progress of services is impaired through no fault of Consultant; the schedule 
for services shall be adjusted and compensation may be adjusted by amendment to this Agreement.

Specific schedule requirements for providing services may be provided in Exhibit D.

Services will be performed as expeditiously as is consistent with professional skill and care and the orderly 
progress of the Project. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Consultant shall not be 
deemed in default of this Agreement to the extent that any delay or failure in the performance of its 
obligations results from any cause beyond its reasonable control or without its negligence.

Article 4: Compensation and Payment for Services

Consultant shall charge for all services requested by Client and rendered by Consultant in connection with the 
Project in strict accordance with the conditions set forth in this Article of the Agreement.

The charges made by Consultant under this Article and the payment of said charges by Client shall constitute 
full compensation for all expenses incurred by Consultant in connection with the services rendered including 
F.I.C.A. taxes, Federal and State unemployment taxes, costs in connection with employees’ benefits, office 
expenses, supplies, and equipment, the general costs of doing business, and Consultant’s profit; and 
Subconsultants engaged by Consultant for the Project, if any.

Consultant’s compensation for services and the method of compensation shall be as described in Exhibit C.

Consultant shall prepare and submit monthly applications for payment for services completed under this 
Agreement.

Invoices shall be Consultant’s standard form or other form approved by Client.

Page 40 of 159



Page 3

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

Invoices are due within thirty (30) days of receipt by Client.

If payments are not made on time, Consultant may suspend services under this Agreement, after giving Client 
seven (7) day notice, until payment is received by Consultant. Client waives any and all claims against 
Consultant due to such suspension of services and agrees to appropriate adjustments to the Project schedule 
and Consultant’s schedule.

Client may withhold payment of a disputed invoice; however, Client must advise Consultant promptly of the 
reason for doing so and Client agrees to process and pay any portion of the invoice which is not in dispute. 
Client shall not withhold payments based on damages that Client has incurred or alleges that it has incurred 
unless Consultant has been adjudged liable for such damages and failed to compensate Client accordingly 
within 30 days of such determination. 

Article 5: Standard of Care

The standard of care for all professional services performed or furnished by Consultant under this Agreement 
will be the skill and care used by members of Consultant’s profession practicing under similar circumstances 
at the same time and in the same locality. Consultant makes no warranties, express or implied, under this 
Agreement or otherwise, in connection with Consultant’s services. 

Article 6: Opinions of Cost 

When included in Consultant’s scope of services, opinions or estimates of probable construction costs are 
prepared on the basis of Consultant’s experience and qualifications and represent Consultant’s judgment as a 
professional generally familiar with the industry. However, since Consultant has no control over the cost of 
labor, materials, equipment or services furnished by others, or Contractor’s methods of determining prices, 
or over competitive bidding or market conditions, Consultant cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, 
bids, or actual construction cost will not vary from Consultant’s opinions or estimates of probable construction 
cost.

Article 7: Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Consultant shall review codes, regulations, and laws applicable to Consultant's services and shall exercise 
professional care to design in compliance with all applicable codes, regulations and laws in effect as of the 
effective date of this Agreement. Consultant cannot warrant that the applicable interpreting or enforcing 
authority will similarly interpret such requirements.
If such codes, regulations and laws change during the project and are imposed during the project by 
government authorities with jurisdiction over the project, such changes may require changes to the 
Consultant’s scope of services, schedule and compensation.

Article 8: Underground Facilities

Page 41 of 159



Page 4

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

The location of underground facilities may be required in order to perform subsurface explorations for the 
project and the location of underground facilities may be shown on the construction Contract drawings.

Unless otherwise provided, Client shall provide Consultant with the locations of underground facilities, 
structures and utilities. If the locations are not known, are inaccurate or cannot be confirmed, Client accepts 
and retains all risk of damages or losses resulting from the exploration work.

Consultant will take reasonable precautions to avoid damage to underground facilities and shall coordinate 
the locations of such facilities with known owners of the facilities.

The information shown on the construction Contract drawings with respect to underground facilities shall be 
based on information furnished by the facility owners to the Client and Consultant and Consultant shall not be 
responsible for the accuracy or completeness of such information.

If conditions or locations of underground facilities are found to be different during construction appropriate 
adjustments, if any, shall be made in accordance with the provisions of construction Contract.

Article 9: Construction Phase Services 

If this Agreement provides for any construction phase services by Consultant, it is understood that the 
Contractor, not Consultant, is responsible for the construction of the project, and that Consultant is not 
responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, Subcontractor or material supplier; for safety 
precautions, programs or enforcement; or for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and 
procedures employed by the Contractor.

Consultant, including the resident project representative if provided, does not assume any responsibility for 
the Contractor’s failure to perform the construction in accordance with the Contract documents.

Site visits and observations by Consultant are intended to provide Client greater confidence that the 
completed work by the Contractor will conform to the Contract documents; and site visits are not detailed 
inspections and do not extend to every aspect of the Contractor’s work.

Article 10: Design without Construction Phase

Consultant and Client agree that if Consultant’s services do not include construction phase services, Client or 
Client’s designated agent shall be solely responsible for interpretation of the Contract documents and 
observing the work of the Contractor to discover, correct and mitigate errors, inconsistencies or omissions and 
if Client authorizes deviations from Consultant prepared documents or if conditions are discovered that are 
not accounted for in the documents prepared by Consultant, Client shall not bring any claim against Consultant 
and shall indemnify and hold Consultant, its agents and employees harmless from and against claims, losses, 
damages and expenses, including but not limited to defense costs and time of Consultant, to the extent such 
claims, loss, damage or expenses arise out of or results in whole or in part from such deviations, regardless of 
whether or not such claims, loss damage or expense is caused in part by a party indemnified under this 
provision.

Page 42 of 159



Page 5

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

Article 11: Use of Documents and Ownership of Electronic Documents

All documents prepared or furnished by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are instruments of 
Consultant’s professional service. Consultant grants Client a license to use instruments of Consultant’s 
professional service for the purpose of constructing, occupying and maintaining the Project. Reuse or 
modification of any such documents by Client, without Consultant’s written permission and professional 
involvement, shall be at Client’s sole risk, and Client agrees to indemnify and hold Consultant harmless from 
all claims, damages and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising out of such reuse by Client or by others 
acting through Client.

Documents that may be relied upon by Client are limited to those that are signed or signed and sealed by 
Consultant, which may be in electronic or hardcopy format in conformance with professional engineering 
practice regulations in effect in project jurisdiction. Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from 
such other documents will be at the user’s sole risk. 

When transferring documents in electronic media format, Consultant makes no representations as to long-
term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from the use of software application 
packages, operating systems or computer hardware differing from those in use by Consultant at the beginning 
of this assignment.

Article 12: Insurance

Consultant procures and maintains insurance as set forth in Exhibit B. Consultant shall cause Client to be an 
additional insured on any applicable general liability insurance policy of the Consultant. Consultant shall 
provide Client reasonable notice of changes to any policy.

Client shall procure and maintain workers’ compensation insurance, employer’s liability insurance, general 
liability insurance, excess or umbrella liability and automobile liability insurance. Client shall cause Consultant 
and its subconsultants to be additional insureds on any general liability policies and as loss payees on any 
property insurance policies of Client applicable to the projects.

Client shall require Contractor to carry workers’ compensation, general liability, property damage, motor 
vehicle damage and injuries and other insurances to protect Client and Consultant and subconsultant; and 
Client shall require Contractor’s policies to cover Consultant and its subconsultants as additional insureds.

Client may request Consultant and/or subconsultants provide and maintain additional insurance coverage, at 
the expense of client.

Article 13: Suspension and Termination

Client may terminate this Agreement with seven days prior written notice to Consultant for convenience or 
cause. Consultant may terminate this Agreement for cause with seven days prior written notice to Client. 
Failure of Client to make payments when due shall be cause for suspension of services or, ultimately, 
termination, unless and until Consultant has been paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses and other 
related charges.

Page 43 of 159



Page 6

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

Article 14: Indemnification and Limitation of Liability

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify Client, its officers, directors, partners, 
employees, and representatives, from and against losses, damages, and judgments arising from claims by third 
parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to the 
extent they are found to be caused by a negligent act, error, or omission of Consultant or Consultant’s officers, 
directors, members, partners, agents, employees, or subconsultants in the performance of services under this 
Agreement.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client shall indemnify Consultant, its officers, directors, partners, 
employees, and representatives, from and against losses, damages, and judgments arising from claims by third 
parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to the 
extent they are found to be caused by a negligent act, error, or omission of Client or Client’s officers, directors, 
members, partners, agents, employees, or subconsultants in the performance of services under this 
Agreement.

Article 15: Dispute Resolution

Client and Consultant agree that they shall first submit any and all unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes, 
and other matters in question between them arising out of or relating to this Agreement to mediation in 
accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association, effective 
as of the date of this agreement.

Article 16: Environmental Conditions

It is acknowledged by both parties that Consultant’s scope of services does not include any services related to 
the presence at the site of asbestos, PCBs, petroleum, hazardous waste or radioactive materials. Client 
acknowledges that Consultant is performing professional services for Client and Consultant is not and shall not 
be required to become an “arranger,” “operator,” “generator” or “transporter” of hazardous substances, as 
defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1990 (CERCLA). 
Further, Consultant has no responsibility for the handling, identification, remediation, or presence of any 
hazardous materials at the site.

Article 17: Controlling Law

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New Hampshire.

Article 18: Successors and Assigns

Client and Consultant each binds itself, its partners, successors, executors, administrators and assigns, to the 
other party of the Agreement and to the partners, successors, executors, administrators and assigns, for such 
other party to all covenants of this Agreement.

Except as above, neither Client nor Consultant shall assign, sublet or transfer its interest in this Agreement 
without the written consent of the other party hereto.

Page 44 of 159



Page 7

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent Consultant from employing such independent subconsultants as 
Consultant may deem appropriate to assist in the performance of the services of this Agreement.

Article 19: Severability

If any of the terms and conditions of this agreement are deemed unenforceable or invalid, in whole or in part, 
by judgment or order of a court, that shall not affect the remaining terms and conditions of the Agreement 
and they shall remain in full force and effect.

Article 20: Waiver of Provisions

Non-enforcement of any provision of this Agreement by Client or Consultant shall not constitute a waiver of 
that provision; and non-enforcement shall not prohibit subsequent enforcement of the provision or any other 
provision of the Agreement.

ACCEPTANCE

For Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc.:

Sean T. James, PE – Senior Vice President (Date)

For The Town of Amherst, New Hampshire:

PLEASE PROCEED WITH THE PROJECT AS INDICATED.

  (Name) (Date)

(Title)

December 21, 2022

Page 45 of 159



Page 8

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

EXHIBIT A
Scope of Services

Construction Phase 

Consultant shall: 
 
C-1. Prepare Notice to Proceed (NTP) for Client signature and issuance to the Contractor.

C-2. Coordinate, attend, and lead a coordination meeting at Client Offices with the Client and Construction 
Engineer to review the project contract documents, and prepare meeting minutes.

C-3. Coordinate, attend and lead a Pre-Construction Meeting at Client Offices and prepare meeting 
minutes.

C-4. Provide limited construction contract administration and shop drawing / product submittal reviews.

C-5. Provide on-call consultation to address Contractor, Construction Engineer, or Client questions or 
concerns and provide clarification to contract documents. 

C-6. Perform up to six site visits during construction. 

C-7. Provide a NHDOT Form 4 Bridge Capacity Rating (with calculations) to the NHDOT. 

C-8. Provide overall project management including scheduling, client coordination and allocation of 
resources.

Assumptions

Consultant assumes:

A-1. Hoyle Tanner’s performance under this contract will be in general conformance with the version of 
the NHDOT’s “Design Procedures for Municipally-Managed State Bridge Aid Program Projects” in 
effect at the time of Hoyle Tanner’s date of acceptance (signature). Should a revised version of the 
procedures be issued during the duration of the project and new requirements be enforced, Hoyle 
Tanner may renegotiate the fee to perform additional services associated with the revisions.  

A-2. Successful project completion requires Hoyle Tanner to manage external and internal team members 
for inter-discipline plan and permit development, by attending coordination meetings with the Client, 
Construction Engineer, and NHDOT, preparation of meeting minutes and notes, Client invoices as well 
as Quality Assurance and Quality Control of documents prepared.

A-3. Resident Project Representative (RPR) services shall be provided by others under a separate contract 
with the Client. Hoyle Tanner’s services during construction will be limited to a support role typical of 
the Engineer of Record with limited submittal review, response to Request for Information (RFI), and 
limited site visits at key construction progress points.

Page 46 of 159



Page 9

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

A-4. Hoyle Tanner will perform up to six site visits for observation of progress only. For budgetary 
purposes, 4 hours site visit are assumed for each site visit including 0.5 hour of travel time to and from 
the project site for a total of 5 hours per site visit. 

A-5. An electronic (PDF) set of the contract documents will be provided to the Construction Engineer 
including contract plans, specifications, project estimate of cost with quantity calculations. A PDF of 
the contract plans is assumed to be utilized for the Record Drawings prepared by the RPR.

A-6. Shop drawings and working drawing reviews are assumed to include a maximum of two reviews of 
the following:

o Reinforcing Steel
o Precast Concrete Rigid Frame Fabrication Drawings
o Concrete Faced Retaining Wall System Fabrication Drawings and Calculations
o Bridge Rail and Bridge Approach Rail

All other shop drawings and working drawing reviews are anticipated to be reviewed by the RPR.

A-7. Review and approval of shop drawings and/or working drawings does not extend to the means and 
methods of construction nor to safety precautions and programs of the Contractor.

A-8. The Contractor’s construction contract will have a duration of 123 calendar days (18 weeks) to achieve 
substantial completion and an additional 35 days (which equates to a project total of 158 calendar 
days or 23 weeks) to achieve final completion starting during the spring of 2023 with all on-site work 
occurring between 7 AM to 7 PM, Monday through Friday. The first 3 weeks of the construction 
contract duration are expected to be used for submittals, utility coordination and project start-up (i.e. 
no on-site work). The Contractor’s on-site construction duration is expected to require the remaining 
contract days or 15 weeks to achieve substantial completion and an additional 5 weeks (23 weeks 
total) to achieve final completion.

A-9. Our on-call consultation services will be based on the contractor’s contract duration of 158 calendar 
days (23 weeks) to achieve substantial completion. On average, 2 hours of on-call consultation will be 
required per week.

A-10. Preparation of the NHDES post construction report, as required in “Project Specific Condition” number 
17 of the Wetlands and Non-Site Specific Permit, is not included in Consultant’s scope of services. 
Preparation of the report shall be the responsibility of the Contractor or Contractor’s subconsultant 
as specified in the Special Provision for Section 645 – Erosion Control.

A-11. Completion of the NHDES “Wetlands Completion of Construction Notice and Certificate of Compliance 
Form” within 30 days of the end of construction is not included in Consultant’s scope of services. 
Client or Client’s Resident Project Representative will complete this form.

A-12. Dispute resolution during construction between Client and Contractor will not include mediation, 
arbitration or litigation. Dispute resolution will be solely handled between the Client, Contractor, RPR, 
and Engineer as necessary. Should the dispute resolution escalate to a point where mediation, 
arbitration or litigation is required, Hoyle Tanner’s fees and rates may be renegotiated should Client 
require participation in the proceedings.

Page 47 of 159



Page 10

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

A-13. Consultant shall not be responsible for acts or omissions of the Contractor(s), changes made to the 
project by the RPR, or interpretations of the project design intent by the RPR.

A-14. Consultant shall not be responsible for failure of the Contractor to construct the project in accordance 
with the construction Contract documents.

Project Specific Client Responsibilities

CR-1. The Client shall provide an electronic (PDF) set of “Record” drawings, as prepared by the RPR, to Hoyle 
Tanner for record purposes.

Page 48 of 159



Page 11

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

Exhibit B  
INSURANCE

Consultant has the following Insurance coverages:

a. Workers’ Compensation and 
Employers’ Liability

$
$
$

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

Each Accident
Disease-Each Employee
Disease-Policy Limit

b. General Liability 
Commercial Package

$
$
$
$
$

1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000

10,000

Each Occurrence
General Aggregate
Products- Comp/Op Agg
Personal & Adv Injury
Med Exp (any one person)

c. Umbrella $
$

10,000,000
10,000,000

Each Occurrence
Aggregate

d. Business Auto
(Hired and Non-Owned)

$ 1,000,000 Combined Single Limit
Per Accident

e. Professional Liability $
$

5,000,000
5,000,000

Per claim
Annual Aggregate

Page 49 of 159



Page 12

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

EXHIBIT C
Compensation for Services

Client shall pay Consultant for services set forth in Exhibit A and in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 
of this Agreement as follows:

C.4 Actual Cost Plus Percent Fee Method of Payment

Construction Phase $ 21,992 Estimated Amount

Total Compensation $ 21,992 Estimated Amount

The total amounts include the Consultant’s direct labor, overhead and percent fee of employees engaged on 
the project, plus reimbursable expenses and Consultant’s subconsultants, if any. During the term of this 
Agreement, direct salaries may be adjusted as part of Hoyle Tanner’s companywide revisions due to increases 
in cost of living as well as merit and shall not be limited to employees assigned to provide services under this 
Agreement.

Reimbursable expenses include such items as transportation, postage, telephone, fax, printing and equipment 
rental.

With approval of Client, Consultant may modify the amounts for individual phases to reflect services actually 
provided by phase, which approval by Client will not be unreasonably withheld; however, Consultant shall not 
exceed the total compensation without the approval of the Client.

Consultant shall bill for services based on direct labor charges plus overhead and percent fee, reimbursable 
and subconsultant charges during the billing period.

Page 50 of 159



Page 13

\\htaman-file\hsg\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Construction Phase\40654 Amherst - CE Phase EoR.docx

NHDOT FUNDING SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the total project costs to date:

SAB 80% Local 20% Total

Preliminary Engineering (PE)
Engineering Study Phase1 $48,840.80 $12,210.20 $61,051.00
Preliminary Design Phase1 $56,135.20 $14,033.80 $70,169.00
Final Design Phase $37,833.60 $9,458.40 $47,292.00
Bid Phase $5,952.00 $1,488.00 $7,440.00

PE Total $148,761.60 $37,190.40 $185,952.00
ROW Total3 $800.00 $200.00 $1,000.00
Construction (CON)

Construction Cost4 $609,734.40 $152,433.60 $762,168.00
Engineer of Record2 $17,593.60 $4,398.40 $21,992.00 
Construction Engineering3 $73,168.00 $18,292.00 $91,460.00

CON Total $700,496.00 $175,124.00 $875,620.00
TOTAL $850,057.60 $212,514.40 $1,062,572.00

1 Complete
2 Fee Estimate included in the Proposal
3 Assumed by Consultant
4 Based on actual estimate in Final Design performed by Consultant

Page 51 of 159



LABOR RATE ESTIMATE K:\1_PROJECTS\Amherst-NH\21_919110_00-Mont-Vernon-Road\0-Contract\Amendment #1 - Construction Phase\[LH-LABOR Mont Vernon CE.xlsx]NHDOT unding Summary

CLIENT :  Town of Amherst, NH

PROJECT:    Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook Bridge Replacement  Calc. By: JCR

PROJECT #:  21.919110 Check By: STJ

DATE:    December 9, 2022

HOURS BY LABOR RATE CLASSIFICATION ($/Hour)

 TOTAL

TOTAL DIRECT

HOURS COSTS

TASK DESCRIPTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $53.47 $0.00 $0.00 $39.31 $0.00 $34.63 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32.63

 0 -$                

C-1. Prepare Notice to Proceed 1 1 2 86.10$            

0 -$                

C-2. Coordination Meeting 4 4 8 352.40$          

0 -$                

C-3. Pre-Construction Meeting 4 4 8 352.40$          

0 -$                

C-4. Construction Administration and Shop Drawing Review 6 12 32 50 1,900.70$       

0 -$                

C-5. On-Call Consultation 24 22 46 2,045.14$       

0 -$                

C-6. Site Visits (Up to 6) 15 15 30 1,321.50$       

0 -$                

C-7. NHDOT Form 4 6 16 22 874.90$          

0 -$                

C-8. Project Management 8 8 427.76$          

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

 0 -$                

0 -$                

 0 -$                

 0 -$                

 0 -$                

0 -$                

 0 -$                

 0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

0 -$                

TOTAL LABOR HOURS 0 0 68 0 0 12 0 93 0 0 0 0 1 174

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR $0.00 $0.00 $3,635.96 $0.00 $0.00 $471.72 $0.00 $3,220.59 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32.63 $7,360.90

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES: DIRECT LABOR COSTS:

  TRAVEL- MILEAGE, ETC. $170 TOTAL DIRECT LABOR $7,361

  POSTAGE & COMMUNICATION $0 OVERHEAD AND PAYROLL BURDEN 169.08% $12,446

  PRINTING $35 TOTAL DIRECT LABOR AND OVERHEAD $19,807

  LODGING AND MEALS $0

  TESTING EQUIPMENT RENTAL $0 PERCENT FEE 10% $1,981

  FIELD SUPPLIES $0

Other $0 SUBTOTAL DIRECT LABOR & FIXED FEE: $21,787

SUBTOTAL: $205

SUBCONSULTANTS:

SUBCONSULTANTS: includes  admin. fee of 0% $0

  (SUBCONSULTANT) $0

  (SUBCONSULTANT) $0

  (SUBCONSULTANT) $0

  (SUBCONSULTANT) $0 SUBTOTAL DIRECT LABOR, FIXED FEE, SUBCONSULTANTS: $21,787

  (SUBCONSULTANT) $0

SUBTOTAL: $0 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES:

includes  admin. fee of 0% $205

 TOTAL: $21,992

      Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc.           150 Dow Street     Manchester, New Hampshire     03101 - 1227 Revised 3/2018

NOT USED NOT USED NOT USED PROJECT ASSISTANT

CONSTRUCTION PHASE

NOT USED NOT USED

PROJECT 

MANAGER NOT USED NOT USED

PROJECT 

ENGINEER NOT USED ENGINEER NOT USED

Page 52 of 159



Salary Rate Table                 

Consultant Name: Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc. Proposed Indirect Cost Rate for this Assignment 169.08%
Project/Contract: # Amherst 40654
Date: 12/21/2022

                 Salary Rate Table
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6

Employee Name Company Classification
NHDOT Standardized
Titles (Leave Blank,
not currently used)

Company
Hourly

Rate ($)

NHDOT
Allowed
Rate ($)

Average
NHDOT

Allowed Rate
($)

Joseph Ripley Project Manager $ 53.47 $ 53.47
$ 53.47

 $ -
Katelyn Welch Project Engineer $ 39.31 $ 39.31

$ 39.31
 $ -
Jeffrey Hollstein Engineer $ 34.63 $ 34.63

$ 34.63
$ -

Diane Ryan Project Assistant $ 32.63 $ 32.63
$ 32.63

$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -
$ - $ -
$ -

I hereby certify, under the pains and penalties of perjury, that all the employees, classifications,  and salaries listed 
are accurate and actual and are in accordance with the contract terms.

December 21, 2022
Consultant Signature Date

Page 53 of 159



-1-

AGREEMENT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR

MONT VERNON ROAD BRIDGE REPLACEMENT, NH PROJECT No. 40654

IN THE TOWN OF AMHERST, NH

THIS AGREEMENT, made this 12th day of January, 2023, by and between the Town of 
Amherst, hereinafter designated as the "Owner”, a New Hampshire municipal corporation duly 
established by law in the County of Hillsborough and the State of New Hampshire, with an address of 2 
Main Street, Amherst, NH 03031, and Greenman-Pedersen, Inc. (GPI), a New York corporation licensed 
to perform engineering in the State of New Hampshire, with an office at 116 South River Road, Building 
B, Suite 1, Bedford, NH 03110, hereinafter designated as the "Consultant”.

WHEREAS, the Owner through its Public Works Department has selected GPI through the 
qualifications based selection; and 

WHEREAS, the Owner has proposed to secure construction engineering services for the Mont 
Vernon Road Bridge Replacement project; and 

WHEREAS, the Owner has authorized the project and appropriated the necessary funds;

NOW THEREFORE, the Owner and the Consultant, for the consideration hereinafter named, 
agree as follows:

SECTION 1 - SCOPE OF WORK

The professional engineering services, which are specifically included in this Agreement, are as 
detailed in Attachment A (Scope of Work), Attachment B (Summary of Work Budget) and Attachment C 
(Construction Engineering Cost Estimate) attached hereto and made a part hereof.  

SECTION 2 – COMPENSATION

The Owner agrees to pay and the Consultant agrees to accept as full compensation for the work 
completed under the terms of this Agreement, fees and charges as follows:

A. Services as summarized in Section 1 and detailed in Attachment A (Scope of Work), Attachment 
B (Summary of Work Budget) and Attachment C (Construction Engineering Cost Estimate) shall 
be provided on an “hourly” basis.  

The Owner will be invoiced on a monthly basis based on the actual work completed during the 
billing period, with audited overhead and 10% fee.  Billings will be based on actual Employee 
Services direct labor, direct labor being defined as the actual hourly rate without any other 
additional costs paid to personnel engaged directly to perform services under this agreement.  

Non-salary expenses shall be invoiced at cost and include reasonable cost of transportation; 
printing; identifiable supplies; laboratory fees; and charges by reviewing authorities.   

B. It is agreed that the Work shall be paid for on a “time-and-materials” basis. For the purposes of 
determining a contract value, it is mutually agreed that services performed under the Agreement 
shall be limited to a Not-to-Exceed amount of $118,364.76 as detailed in Attachment B 

Page 54 of 159



-2-

(Summary of Work Budget) and Attachment C (Construction Engineering Cost Estimate).  This 
amount includes $95,617.26 in labor (at audited field/office overhead and 10% fee) and 
$22,747.50 in expenses and subconsultant services as detailed in Attachment B (Summary of 
Work Budget) and Attachment C (Construction Engineering Cost Estimate). 

C. For outside services, which are rendered for the Consultant by other than its direct employees, 
the fee shall be the Consultant’s direct cost.  In regard to the use of sub-consulting services the 
Consultant may bring in to perform services for the Owner, the Owner must approve these 
services in writing before said services are rendered and the rate of compensation cannot exceed 
the rate or the maximum amounts shown Attachment B for said service.

D. Transportation expenses for employees of the Consultant traveling in direct reference to the 
Project shall be rendered to the Owner at the IRS rate per mile current at the time of service.

E. Interim payments shall be made monthly to the Consultant as the Consultant performs said Work.  
It is understood and agreed that the Consultant will be paid only for Work performed by it and its 
employees under this Agreement as long as the Consultant can provide a detailed breakdown to 
the Owner that this Work was performed in the current billing cycle.  Work rendered by the 
Owner’s employees will be at no cost to the Consultant and the Consultant will receive no 
payment therefore. Payment for Invoices received from the Consultant for Work performed 
under the contract is due no later than 60 days from the time of submittal. 

In the event of a disputed or contested invoice, only that portion so contested may be withheld 
from payment, and the undisputed portion will be paid.  The Owner and Consultant shall 
endeavor to negotiate disputes between them in good faith for a period of 30 days from the date 
of Owner’s notice to the Consultant of the disputed item(s) in the invoice.  

Records and documents prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement shall become property 
of the Owner.  The Consultant shall retain a copy of the data for its professional use.

F. Attachment C (Construction Engineering Cost Estimate) shall have each work item identified 
with a budget amount.  In the event the Consultant wishes to spend more funding then that which 
is identified in that work item, the Consultant must follow the terms and conditions of paragraph 
H, below.  Invoices shall not be accepted for payment if the amount requested exceeds the 
budgeted amount in the approved Professional Services Cost Matrix.

G. The Consultant shall not be required to provide any Work under this Agreement that is outside of 
the Limits of Work as described in Attachment A (Scope of Work) and that will result in the Not-
to-Exceed amount being exceeded, without first amending this Agreement in writing.

H. The Consultant must provide the service specified in the Scope of Work identified in Attachment 
A (Scope of Work) for the amount specified in Attachment B (Summary of Work Budget) and 
Attachment C (Construction Engineering Cost Estimate). In the event that the Not-to-Exceed fee 
and authorized contingency has to be exceeded for reasonable cause, the Owner and the 
Consultant shall mutually revise it by written amendment to this Agreement.  Increases to 
amounts in Attachment B (Summary of Work Budget) and Attachment C (Construction 
Engineering Cost Estimate) shall not be granted unless unforeseen issues or changes in scope of 
work cause additional work for the Consultant.

Page 55 of 159



-3-

SECTION 3 – CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING SERVICES

The Consultant shall provide construction engineering services according to the scope of work 
provided in Attachment A.  

These documents are incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

SECTION 4 - SCHEDULE FOR COMPLETION

The Consultant agrees to provide construction engineering services for 20 weeks of construction.  
Should the Town’s construction contractor continue work beyond the 20-week construction periods, the 
Owner will be notified in writing for the need of additional services. The Consultant shall not be 
responsible for failure to perform or for delays in the performance of the Work under this Agreement, 
which arise out of causes beyond the control and without fault or negligence of the Consultant, including, 
without limitation, delays caused by permitting requirements, permitting appeals, required land 
acquisition, review periods by third parties, Owner, fire or other casualty, governmental action, inability 
to obtain material, or Acts of God.  The Consultant shall immediately notify the Owner in writing in the 
event that a delay affects the schedule for completion.

SECTION 5 - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

The Owner and the Consultant each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives of such other parties with respect to the covenants, terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.  The Consultant shall not assign, sublet or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of the Owner.

SECTION 6 – TERMINATION

The Owner may terminate this Agreement by seven (7) days written notice to the Consultant.  
Compensation and reimbursement due the Consultant up to the date of termination shall be paid to the 
Consultant by the Owner.  Such payments shall not exceed the fair value of the Work as the Owner and 
Consultant may mutually agree.

By written notice to the Owner, the Consultant may terminate this Agreement ninety (90) days 
following written notice to the Owner from the Consultant of any default by the Owner under the 
Agreement, unless the Owner shall have failed to remove such default within said ninety (90) days.  
Upon such termination by the Consultant, compensation and reimbursement payable to the Consultant in 
accordance with the terms of the Agreement up to and including the date of termination shall be paid to 
the Consultant by the Owner.  Such payments shall not exceed the fair value of the Work as the Owner 
and Consultant may mutually agree.

Upon termination or completion of the Work under this Agreement, the Consultant shall 
immediately return to the Owner without limitation the documents, plans, drawings, tools and items of 
any nature whatever supplied to the Consultant by the Owner or developed by the Consultant in 
accordance with this Agreement.

Page 56 of 159



-4-

SECTION 7 – WARRANTY, LIABILITY, AND INDEMNIFICATION

The Work rendered by the Consultant shall be performed in accordance with generally accepted 
Engineering practices.  Estimates, recommendations, opinions, and decisions of the Consultant shall be 
based upon the information furnished and presently in possession, without acknowledging or confirming 
the veracity thereof, and upon the Consultant’s experience, technical qualifications and professional 
judgment.  

The Consultant agrees that, prior to the commencement of the Work pursuant to the Agreement, the 
Consultant shall provide to the Owner a Certificate of Insurance showing that the Consultant has in full 
force and effect a policy or policies of insurance against errors and/or omissions due to professional 
negligence of the Consultant in the amount of $2,000,000.  The Consultant agrees to keep said insurance (or 
the equivalent) in full force and effect throughout the full term of the Agreement and for a period of three (3) 
years subsequent to the expiration of the full term of the Agreement.  The Consultant shall immediately 
inform the Owner of any potential error or omission at the time of occurrence, and the Owner shall have 
complete access to the documents to make an independent determination of the alleged error or omission.  
The Consultant shall maintain general liability insurance in such amounts as approved by the Owner naming 
the Owner as an additional insured.  Insurance policies shall be written by companies licensed to do business 
in the State of New Hampshire and acceptable to the Owner.  The Owner shall receive written notification at 
least 30 days prior to the effective date of any amendment or cancellation.  Certificates evidencing such 
coverages shall be provided to the Owner upon the execution of this Agreement.  Each such certificate shall 
specifically refer to this Agreement and shall state that such insurance is as required by this Agreement.  
Failure to provide or to continue in force such insurance shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement 
and shall be grounds for immediate termination.  

The Consultant shall indemnify and hold the Owner harmless from and against claims, demands, 
liabilities, actions, causes of actions, costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, arising out of the 
Consultant's breach of this Agreement or the negligence or misconduct of the Consultant, or the 
Consultant's agents or employees.

SECTION 8 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

This Agreement represents the entire and integrated Agreement between Owner and the 
Consultant and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral.  This 
Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by both Owner and Consultant.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship or cause of action in 
favor of a third party against either the Owner or the Consultant.

In the implementation of the Work identified in Attachment A (Scope of Work), the Consultant 
agrees that the personnel assigned to work on these plans shall have a working knowledge of the project 
requirements of NHDOT and shall follow those requirements.  

The Consultant shall comply with the Federal, State and local laws, rules, regulations and orders 
applicable to the work provided pursuant to this Agreement, such provisions being incorporated herein by 
reference, and shall be responsible for obtaining the necessary licenses, permits, and approvals required 
for the performance of such work. 

Notices, or other communications required or permitted under this Agreement, shall be in writing 
and delivered by hand or mailed postage prepaid, return receipt requested, by registered or certified mail 

Page 57 of 159



-5-

or by other reputable delivery service, to the parties at the addresses set forth on Page 1 or furnished from 
time to time in writing hereafter by one party to the other party.  Any such notice or correspondence shall 
be deemed given when so delivered by hand, if so mailed, when deposited with the U.S. Postal Service 
or, if sent by private overnight or other delivery service, when deposited with such delivery service.

If any term or condition of this Agreement or any application thereof shall to any extent be held 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable by the court of competent jurisdiction, the validity, legality, and 
enforceability of the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be deemed affected 
thereby unless one or both parties would be substantially or materially prejudiced.

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 
State of New Hampshire and the Consultant submits to the jurisdiction of any of its appropriate courts for 
the adjudication of disputes arising out of this Agreement.

Page 58 of 159



Page 59 of 159



-7-

ATTACHMENT A

SCOPE OF WORK

Page 60 of 159



-8-

ATTACHMENT B

SUMMARY OF WORK BUDGET

Page 61 of 159



-9-

LABOR

ITEM      COST

Resident Engineering & Inspection $   69,374.34
Construction Administration $   26,242.92

Subtotal $   95,617.26

EXPENSES

ITEM      COST

Materials Testing (Subconsultant) $   17,835.00
Mileage $     4,912.50

Subtotal $   22,747.50

TOTAL $ 118,364.76

Page 62 of 159



-10-

ATTACHMENT C

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING COST ESTIMATE

Page 63 of 159



 

  

 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
Eric M. Slosek 

Director 
22 Dodge Road 

Amherst, NH  03031 
Tel. (603) 673-2317 x-402   Email: eslosek@amherstnh.gov 

 

 

February 3, 2023 
 
Mr. Kevin Russell 
Project Manager 
NHDOT Bureau of Planning and Community Assistance 
John O. Morton Building 
7 Hazen Drive 
Concord, NH 03302 

 
 
Re: Construction Engineering Services  

Mont Vernon Road Bridge over Caesar’s Brook 
NHDOT Bridge No. 112/071 / NHDOT Project No. 40654 

 
 
Dear Mr. Russell: 
 
Per your “Final Plan – Notice to Proceed to Advertise to Bids / GPI Approval – Construction Engineering” 
letter dated January 12, 2023, the Town of Amherst has engaged Greenman-Pedersen, Inc. (GPI) and 
Hoyle, Tanner & Associates (Hoyle Tanner) for construction engineering phase services for the subject 
project. GPI will perform the Contract Administration services and Hoyle Tanner will assist as Engineer of 
Record. 
 
The Town of Amherst has reviewed the attached proposals from GPI and Hoyle Tanner and found them 
to be acceptable. The Town now requests NHDOT review and approval of these proposals. As is shown 
in the table below, the estimated construction (CON) total is now $902,524.76 as compared to the 
currently programmed $875,620.00. Therefore, the Town is also requesting NHDOT approval of an 
additional $26,904.76 of additional construction engineering funds so that the Town can execute the 
agreements for construction phase services.   
 
The following is a summary of the total project costs prepared by Hoyle Tanner (Consultant): 
 
 SAB 80% Local 20% Total 

Preliminary Engineering (PE)    

Engineering Study Phase1 $48,840.80 $12,210.20 $61,051.00 

Preliminary Design Phase1 $56,135.20 $14,033.80 $70,169.00 

Final Design Phase1 $37,833.60 $9,458.40 $47,292.00 

Bid Phase2 $5,952.00 $1,488.00 $7,440.00 

PE Total $148,761.60 $37,190.40 $185,952.00 

ROW Total3 $800.00 $200.00 $1,000.00 

Construction (CON)    

Construction Cost4 $609,734.40  $152,433.60  $762,168.00 

Engineer of Record5 $17,593.60  $4,398.40  $21,992.00  

Page 64 of 159



 SAB 80% Local 20% Total 

Construction Engineering5 $94,691.81  $23,672.95 $118,364.76 

CON Total $722,019.81 $180,504.95 $902,524.76 

TOTAL $871,581.41 $217,895.35 $1,089,476.76 

  
1Complete 
2 In Progress 
3 Assumed by Consultant 
4 Based on actual estimate in Final Design performed by Consultant 
5Awaiting NHDOT Approval 
 

We appreciate your consideration of our request and please feel free to contact me at 603-673-2317, x 
402, or eslosek@amherstnh.gov, should you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Eric M. Slosek 
Amherst Director of Public Works 

Page 65 of 159



THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

                                                                                                                  
 
 
  
 
 

JOHN O. MORTON BUILDING • 7 HAZEN DRIVE • P.O. BOX 483 • CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE  03302-0483 

TELEPHONE: 603-271-3734 • FAX: 603-271-3914 • TDD: RELAY NH 1-800-735-2964 • INTERNET: WWW.NHDOT.COM 

 
c:\users\n46dmp\appdata\local\microsoft\windows\inetcache\content.outlook\3wyrgul6\final plan and qbs ce approval-email.docx 

William Cass, P.E. 

Commissioner 
David Rodrigue, P.E. 

Assistant Commissioner 

Andre Briere, Colonel, USAF (RET)  

Deputy Commissioner 

   January 12, 2023 
 

Eric Slosek 
Public Works Director 
Town of Amherst 
2 Main Street 
Amherst, NH  03031 
 

RE: AMHERST, #40654 
   Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook – Br. #112/071 
 FINAL PLAN - NOTICE TO PROCEED TO ADVERTISE FOR BIDS 
 GPI APPROVAL – CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 
 
Dear Mr. Slosek: 
 

 The Department has reviewed the Final Plans dated October 28, 2022, as submitted by Hoyle, Tanner & 
Associates (HTA), Inc. for the above-referenced project and finds them to be satisfactory.   
 
 Also, the Department has reviewed the Qualifications-Based Selection process dated December 8, 2022, 
as prepared by the Town of Amherst for Construction Administration services and found it to be satisfactory via 
email on December 28, 2022.  The Town may move to scope and fee negotiations with Greenman-Pedersen, 
Inc. (GPI) and scope and fee negotiations with the Engineer of Record, HTA. 
 

The Town is authorized to proceed to advertising for bids. Upon receipt of bids, please send 
tabulation to this office for our concurrence to award the contract to the low bidder. 
 
 The following table summarizes the anticipated costs for this project. 
 

PHASE *PARTICIPATING COMMENTS 
Preliminary Engineering $185,952.00 Authorized 

Right of Way Easements 
(estimated) 

$1,000.00 Authorized 

Construction (estimated) $875,620.00 Programmed including 
Construction Engineering 

Total $1,062,572.00  
 *Participating amount is 80% State Bridge Aid, 20% Town match 
 

 Under the guidelines for municipally-managed projects, we can now reimburse the Town 80% of the 
design/bid phase services and any right-of-way costs incurred upon submission of all paid invoices.  Please 
include complete copies of each invoice, as well as, proof of payment.  Please submit an itemized listing of 
these charges so that the process for reimbursement can be done efficiently.  Please be sure to refer to 
NHDOT’s Process for Bridge Aid - Municipally-Managed Projects for an explanation of qualifying costs. 

Page 66 of 159



 
 
 
 

 If there are any questions as you proceed, please contact us. 
 
    Sincerely, 
 

    Kevin C. Russell 

 
    Kevin C. Russell, PE 
    Project Manager 
    Bureau of Planning and Community Assistance 
    Telephone:  (603) 271-1609 
KCR/dmp 
 
cc via email: Joseph Ripley, Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc., Tim Lemire, Greenman-Pedersen, Inc.,  
  Joseph Jordan, Town of Amherst, C. R. Willeke, NHDOT, Courtney Collins, NHDOT,  
  Laura Guimont, NHDOT  

Page 67 of 159



Page 68 of 159



Page 69 of 159



Page 70 of 159



Page 71 of 159



Page 72 of 159



Page 73 of 159



Page 74 of 159



Page 75 of 159



Page 76 of 159



Page 77 of 159



Page 78 of 159



Page 79 of 159



Page 80 of 159



Page 81 of 159



Page 82 of 159



Page 83 of 159



Page 84 of 159



Page 85 of 159



Page 86 of 159



Page 87 of 159



Page 88 of 159



Page 89 of 159



Page 90 of 159



Page 91 of 159



Page 92 of 159



Page 93 of 159



Page 94 of 159



Page 95 of 159



Page 96 of 159



Page 97 of 159



Page 98 of 159



Page 99 of 159



Page 100 of 159



Page 101 of 159



Page 102 of 159



Page 103 of 159



Page 104 of 159



Page 105 of 159



Page 106 of 159



Page 107 of 159



Page 108 of 159



Page 109 of 159



Page 110 of 159



Page 111 of 159



Page 112 of 159



Page 113 of 159



Page 114 of 159



Page 115 of 159



Page 116 of 159



Page 117 of 159



Page 118 of 159



Page 119 of 159



Page 120 of 159



Page 121 of 159



Page 122 of 159



Page 123 of 159



Page 124 of 159



Page 125 of 159



Page 126 of 159



Page 127 of 159



Page 128 of 159



Page 129 of 159



Cash Flow Worksheet - Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund (CRF)
Notes:
1. All costs in 2021 dollars and do not include inflation.
2. The following analysis uses the NHDOT Funding Summary Table from the Design and Bid Agreement for Professional Services. These values include assumed ROW, construction and construction engineering costs.
3. Wetland Permit fees  shown below are assumed.
4. PE NHDOT Reimbursement includes previously expended fees for the Engineering Study Phase.
5. Estimated construction values have been inflation adjusted. (Adjusted for Daniels bid 2-28-23)
6. Value estimated from conversations with E. Slosek on 12/21/2021. This number accounts for Boston Post Road expenditures.
7. Value is from Hoyle Tanner estimate.
8. Cost is for completion of BPR Culvert project (paving)

Start-up
Q1

2022
Q2

2022
Q3

2022
Q4

2022
Q1

2023
Q2

2023
Q3

2023
Q4

2023
Q1

2024
Q2

2024
Q3

2024
Q4

2024
Q1

2025
Q2

2025
Q3

2025
Q4

2025 Total

Beginning Balance6 $479,814.00

CRF Cash Paid In
     Town CIP Funding $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 800,000.00$       
     PE  and ROW NHDOT Reimbursement (Mont Vernon Road)4 $143,609.60 143,609.60$       MVR Total 976,561.60$       
     Bid NHDOT Reimbursement (Mont Vernon Road) $5,952.00 5,952.00$           TFR Total 1,428,808.60$   
     Const. NHDOT Upfront Payment (Mont Vernon Road) $377,500.00 377,500.00$       
     Const. NHDOT Final Payment (Mont Vernon Road) $377,500.00 377,500.00$       
     Const. ENG. NHDOT Reimb. Payment (Mont Vernon Road) $72,000.00 72,000.00$         
     PE and ROW NHDOT Reimbursement (Thornton Ferry Road I)4 $190,141.60 190,141.60$       
     Bid NHDOT Reimbursement (Thornton Ferry Road I) $5,952.00 5,952.00$           
     Const. MOBIL Reimb. (Thornton Ferry Road I) $450,846.00 $450,846.00 $225,423.00 1,127,115.00$   
     Const. ENG. NHDOT Reimb. Payment (Thornton Ferry Road I) $72,000.00 72,000.00$         
     LOMR NHDOT Reimb. Payment (Thornton Ferry Road I) $33,600.00 33,600.00$         

Temporary Bridge Design and Bid Reimb. (Thorton Ferry Road 1) $27,765.60
     Other (specify) -$                      
     Other (specify) -$                      
     Other (specify) -$                      
     Other (specify) -$                      
    Total -$                 -$                 -$                 $227,765.60 143,609.60$  5,952.00$       377,500.00$  390,141.60$  -$                   383,452.00$  522,846.00$  650,846.00$  225,423.00$  -$                 72,000.00$    233,600.00$  -$                 3,233,135.80$   

CRF Cash Paid Out
     Sprning Road Design $28,839.00 28,839.00$         
     Spring Road Construction5 $120,000.00
     Sprning Road Bid Phase, and Construction Engineering Services5 $12,500.00 12,500.00$         
     Preliminary Design Invoices (Mont Vernon Road) $35,084.50 $35,084.50 70,169.00$         MVR Total 1,013,841.00$   
     Wetland Permit Fee (Mont Vernon Road) $500.00 500.00$               TFR Total 1,431,076.00$   
     Final Design Invoices (Mont Vernon Road) $23,646.00 $23,646.00 47,292.00$         
     Easements (Mont Vernon Road) $1,000.00 1,000.00$           
     Bid Phase Invoices (Mont Vernon Road) $7,440.00 7,440.00$           
     Const. Engineering Invoices (Mont Vernon Road) $56,122.00 $56,122.00 $28,061.00 140,305.00$       
     Contractor Const. Invoices (Mont Vernon Road) $298,854.00 $298,854.00 $149,427.00 747,135.00$       
     Preliminary Design Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $37,264.00 $37,264.00 $18,632.00 93,160.00$         
     Wetland Permit Fee (Thornton Ferry Road I) $500.00 500.00$               
     Final Design Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $26,344.40 $26,344.40 $13,172.20 65,861.00$         
     Easements (Thornton Ferry Road I) $5,000.00 5,000.00$           
     Bid Phase Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $7,440.00 7,440.00$           
     Const. Engineering Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $36,000.00 $36,000.00 $18,000.00 90,000.00$         
     Contractor Const. Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $450,846.00 $450,846.00 $225,423.00 1,127,115.00$   
     LOMR Invoices (Thornton Ferry Road I) $42,000.00 42,000.00$         

Temporary Bridge Design and Bid (Thorton Ferry Road 1) $34,707.00 34,707.00$         
Temporary Bridge Construction (Thorton Ferry Road 1) $288,512.00 288,512.00$       
Temporary Bridge CE (Thorton Ferry Road 1) $19,504.00 $42,000.00 61,504.00$         

     Townwide Engineering Study7 $35,000.00 35,000.00$         
     BPR Culvert Paving8 $10,000.00 10,000.00$         
     Other (specify) -$                      
     Other (specify) -$                      
    Total -$                 $101,187.50 $72,848.50 $78,485.00 $31,086.00 $334,360.40 $563,820.40 $368,148.20 $184,928.00 $0.00 $486,846.00 $486,846.00 $243,423.00 $0.00 $84,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 3,035,979.00$   

Cash Position (End of Quarter) $479,814.00 $378,626.50 305,778.00$  455,058.60$  567,582.20$  239,173.80$  52,853.40$    74,846.80$    (110,081.20)$  273,370.80$  309,370.80$  473,370.80$  455,370.80$  455,370.80$  443,370.80$  676,970.80$  676,970.80$  

Page 130 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Spring Rd. Culvert Repair Bids Department: Public Works 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We received bids for the Spring Rd. culvert repair project.  The same three vendors that 
bid on the Mont Vernon Rd. bridge construction project bid on this as well.  The bid was 
also Neil H. Daniels at $153,000. This is considerably higher than the $82,000 estimate 
from Hoyle Tanner for this work.  We have identified several areas that we think we can 
reduce costs.  One of which is to close the road during this project.  We seek approval 
from the BOS to have Hoyle Tanner contact all three bidders to allow them to revise 
their bids. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend allowing all three bidders the opportunity to revise their bids. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to allow Hoyle Tanner to contact all three bidders and give them the opportunity 
to revise their bids. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Spring Road Notice of Low Bid 
 

Page 131 of 159



 

 

 

 

February 24, 2023 

 

 

Mr. Eric Slosek 

Public Works Director 

Town of Amherst 

22 Dodge Road 

Amherst, NH 03031 

 

Re: Bid Summary and Analysis 

Spring Road over Unnamed Brook 

 Hoyle Tanner Project No. 21.919108.00 

 

Dear Eric: 

 

Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, Inc. (Hoyle Tanner) has reviewed the bids received for the above-referenced 

project. A tabulation of these bids and a bid analysis is enclosed for your review. The purpose of this 

letter is to summarize the bid results and to make recommendations prior to the Town deciding to 

award the project or reject the bids.   

The bids were opened at 2:30 pm on February 23, 2023 through a Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting. 

Three bid proposals were received, and the following is a summary of the results: 

 

Engineers Estimate:    

Hoyle, Tanner & Associates Inc.  Total Estimate with Contingency: $81,931.00 

     Neil H. Daniels, Inc.   Total Bid:    $153,000.00 

Northeast Earth Mechanics, LLC. Total Bid:    $173,935.00 

New England Infrastructure, Inc. Total Bid:    $333,333.33 

All bids received were responsive and all three contractors are considered responsible since the bid 

documentation contained the required bid bond in the amount of 5% of the bid price as well as the 

necessary documentation of the required NHDOT Prequalification Status. Neil H. Daniels, Inc. (Daniels) is 

the low bidder, and their total bid price is $71,069.00 higher than the January 2023 Engineer’s Estimate, 

or 87% higher. Daniels is prequalified with NHDOT in the category of Bridge Construction. Hoyle Tanner 

finds Daniels to be a bridge contractor capable of performing the work required for this project. 

The enclosed bid tabulation is based on multiplying the contract quantities by the bidders’ submitted 

unit prices. There are no discrepancies between our bid tabulation and the bid schedule submitted by 

the bidders. 

 

The number of competitive bids for this project is three. Bids were evaluated utilizing a level of 

significance of 2% of the low bid. Therefore, for this project the level of significance is $3,060.00 

meaning that any bid item which varies by more than +/- $3,060 from the Engineer’s Estimate should be 

independently evaluated. This level of significance percentage was selected based on FHWA Bid Analysis 

Page 132 of 159



Bid Summary and Analysis  Page 2 

40654 - Amherst  

guidelines rather than NHDOT guidelines due to the relatively small project size. There are 5 items that 

deviate from the Engineer’s Estimate by more than this amount. All items were evaluated for 

reasonableness and unbalancing, and narratives addressing any deviations are provided in the enclosed 

bid analysis tabulation.  

 

Timely repair of the Spring Road Culvert Headwalls is required to prevent further roadway sideslope 

erosion and potential undermining of the guardrail and roadway pavement. However, since the low bid 

is significantly higher than the Engineer’s Estimate Hoyle Tanner cannot recommend award of the 

project prior to coordination with the Town and negotiation with Daniels on the following items: 

 

Town of Amherst: 

• The maximum permissible budget for this project should be determined. This value will be 

conveyed to Daniels during negotiations. 

 

Daniels: 

• The majority of the cost difference between Daniels’ bid and the Engineers Estimate is in three 

items; Item 592.99 – Headwall (Contractor’s Option), Item 619.1 – Maintenance of Traffic, and 

Item 692. – Mobilization. 
o Item 592.99: Hoyle Tanner recommends initiating discussions with Daniels on the 

pricing for this item including back-up for the assumed cost of water diversion. There 

may be schedule flexibility to complete this work during a period with no precipitation 

and very low flow. 
o Item 619.1: Hoyle Tanner recommends initiating discussions with Daniels on the pricing 

for this item including back-up for the unit pricing. There may be some options for the 

Town to perform some of the maintenance of traffic work (provide signs, barrels, 

flaggers, etc.) or to provide short term roadway closures to eliminate some of this item 

cost. 
o Item 692.: Daniels is the low bidder for the Mont Vernon Road over Ceasars Brook 

replacement project. If the Mont Vernon Road project is awarded to Daniels, there may 

be potential to lower the mobilization costs for this project. Since this project and the 

Mont Vernon Road project were bid as separate contracts, it is likely that Daniels 

included sufficient costs in Item 692 such that they would be able to adequately cover 

their mobilization costs if they were only awarded the Spring Road project.  

 

Hoyle Tanner assumes that the above-described discussions with the Daniels are permissible under the 

Town of Amherst procurement regulations. Also, since this project does not include any NHDOT funding, 

authorization from NHDOT is not required to proceed. 

If you have any questions or need further information, please feel free to contact me at (603) 460-5211. 

 

Sincerely, 

HOYLE TANNER 

 

 

Joseph C. Ripley, PE 

Project Manager 

 

Enclosures 

 

 

Page 133 of 159



Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

201.1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F) A 0.1 $20,000.00 $2,000.00 $25,000.00 $2,500.00 $200,000.00 $20,000.00 $151,000.00 $15,100.00

207.3 UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION CY 40 $50.00 $2,000.00 $40.00 $1,600.00 $100.00 $4,000.00 $112.00 $4,480.00

304.4 CRUSHED STONE (FINE GRADATION) (F) CY 10 $40.00 $400.00 $65.00 $650.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $170.00 $1,700.00

544.3 REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED) LB 1000 $4.00 $4,000.00 $0.01 $10.00 $2.00 $2,000.00 $6.00 $6,000.00

550.9 CMP PLATE REPAIR SF 40 $25.00 $1,000.00 $0.25 $10.00 $25.00 $1,000.00 $380.00 $15,200.00

583.1 RIPRAP, CLASS I CY 5 $50.00 $250.00 $100.00 $500.00 $100.00 $500.00 $580.00 $2,900.00

583.3 RIPRAP, CLASS III CY 10 $50.00 $500.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $320.00 $3,200.00

592.99 HEADWALL (CONTRACTOR'S OPTION) CY 35 $850.00 $29,750.00 $1,550.00 $54,250.00 $1,000.00 $35,000.00 $2,380.00 $83,300.00

593.411 GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-WOVEN SY 60 $5.00 $300.00 $3.00 $180.00 $20.00 $1,200.00 $14.00 $840.00

606.91 RESETTING OR SETTING GUARDRAIL LF 106 $20.00 $2,120.00 $60.00 $6,360.00 $85.00 $9,010.00 $89.00 $9,434.00

618.7 FLAGGERS HR 320 $35.00 $11,200.00 $35.00 $11,200.00 $65.00 $20,800.00 $62.00 $19,840.00

619.1 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC U 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $26,149.33 $26,149.33

645.0002 SEDIMENTATION BASIN U 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $1,650.00 $1,650.00

645.0011 TURBIDITY CURTAIN MO 2 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,000.00 $3,060.00 $6,120.00

645.44 TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE FRIENDLY) SY 160 $5.00 $800.00 $5.00 $800.00 $4.00 $640.00 $30.00 $4,800.00

645.512 COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM LF 130 $8.00 $1,040.00 $6.00 $780.00 $10.00 $1,300.00 $10.00 $1,300.00

645.7 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN U 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $6,000.00 $6,000.00

645.72 MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS EA 7 $150.00 $1,050.00 $350.00 $2,450.00 $175.00 $1,225.00 $660.00 $4,620.00

646.51 TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, TACKIFIERS AND LOAM SY 160 $5.00 $800.00 $20.00 $3,200.00 $11.00 $1,760.00 $20.00 $3,200.00

692 MOBILIZATION U 1 $6,771.00 $6,771.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $116,000.00 $116,000.00

699 MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL $ 1500 $1.00 $1,500.00 $1.00 $1,500.00 $1.00 $1,500.00 $1.00 $1,500.00

Base Bid Total: $74,481.00 $153,000.00 $173,935.00 $333,333.33

Contingency: 10% $7,450.00

Construction Total: $81,931.00

02/23/2023 at 2:30 PM EST

Culvert Rehabilitation - Spring Road Over Unnamed Brook, Town of Amherst, NH

Bid Tabulation

Neil H. Daniels, Inc. NorthEast Earth Mechanics, LLC New England Infrastructure, Inc.Engineer Estimate

Page 134 of 159



HOYLE, TANNER & ASSOCIATES, INC.

Project No. 21.919108 Culvert Rehabilitation - Spring Road Over Unnamed Brook, Town of Amherst, NH

Amherst, NH

UNIT PRICE ITEM AMOUNT UNIT PRICE ITEM AMOUNT

201.1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING (F) 0.1 A $20,000.00 2,000.00$                   $25,000.00 2,500.00$                   + $500.00 0.3% 1

207.3 UNCLASSIFIED CHANNEL EXCAVATION 40 CY $50.00 2,000.00$                   $40.00 1,600.00$                   -$400.00 -0.3% 1

304.4 CRUSHED STONE (FINE GRADATION) (F) 10 CY $40.00 400.00$                      $65.00 650.00$                      + $250.00 0.2% 1

544.3 REINFORCING STEEL (CONTRACTOR DETAILED) 1,000 LB $4.00 4,000.00$                   $0.01 10.00$                        -$3,990.00 -2.6%

Based on discussions with the Contractor, they propose to use the mortared 

rubble masonry headwall option which would not require this item.

550.9 CMP PLATE REPAIR 40 SF $25.00 1,000.00$                   $0.25 10.00$                        -$990.00 -0.6%

Based on discussions with the Contractor, they propose to use the mortared 

rubble masonry headwall option which would not require this item.

583.1 RIPRAP, CLASS I 5 CY $50.00 250.00$                      $100.00 500.00$                      + $250.00 0.2% 1

583.3 RIPRAP, CLASS III 10 CY $50.00 500.00$                      $100.00 1,000.00$                   + $500.00 0.3% 1

592.99 HEADWALL (CONTRACTOR'S OPTION) 35 CY $850.00 29,750.00$                 $1,550.00 54,250.00$                 + $24,500.00 16.0%

This is a well defined item. Our calculations for this item have been re-

checked and verified. The contractor may have placed additional costs here 

for risk associated with in water work or based on the condition of the 

existing culverts.

593.411

GEOTEXTILE; PERM CONTROL CL.1, NON-

WOVEN 60 SY $5.00 300.00$                      $3.00 180.00$                      -$120.00 -0.1% 1

606.91 RESETTING OR SETTING GUARDRAIL 106 LF $20.00 2,120.00$                   $60.00 6,360.00$                   + $4,240.00 2.8%

This is an item with well defined limits. The contractor may be subcontracting 

this work which may increase their cost.

618.7 FLAGGERS 320 HR $35.00 11,200.00$                 $35.00 11,200.00$                 $0.00 0.0% 1

619.1 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC 1 U $2,000.00 2,000.00$                   $35,000.00 35,000.00$                 + $33,000.00 21.6%

Hoyle Tanner suggests that this item be discussed with the Contractor to 

determine what assumptions / risks are carried in this item and if changes to 

the contract can reduce this cost. The average of the B and C bidders for this 

item is $25,500 which is also substantially higher than our Engineer's 

estimate.

645.0002 SEDIMENTATION BASIN 1 U $2,000.00 2,000.00$                   $10.00 10.00$                        -$1,990.00 -1.3%

Based on discussions with the Contractor, they propose to use the mortared 

rubble masonry headwall option which may not require this item.

645.0011 TURBIDITY CURTAIN 2 MO $1,000.00 2,000.00$                   $500.00 1,000.00$                   -$1,000.00 -0.7% 1

645.44

TEMPORARY SLOPE MATTING TYPE D (WILDLIFE 

FRIENDLY) 160 SY $5.00 800.00$                      $5.00 800.00$                      $0.00 0.0% 1

645.512 COMPOST SOCK FOR PERIMETER BERM 130 LF $8.00 1,040.00$                   $6.00 780.00$                      -$260.00 -0.2% 1

645.7 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN 1 U $3,000.00 3,000.00$                   $5,000.00 5,000.00$                   + $2,000.00 1.3%

This is a well defined item with no chance of quantity overrun. The low bid  

price is less than the B and C bidders. The low bid price is also the same price 

used by this contractor for Mont Vernon Road bid results and may reflect 

general industry pricing changes for this item.

645.72

MONITORING SWPPP AND EROSION AND 

SEDIMENT CONTROLS 7 EA $150.00 1,050.00$                   $350.00 2,450.00$                   + $1,400.00 0.9% 1

646.51

TURF ESTABLISHMENT WITH MULCH, 

TACKIFIERS AND LOAM 160 SY $5.00 800.00$                      $20.00 3,200.00$                   + $2,400.00 1.6% 1

692. MOBILIZATION 1 U $6,771.00 6,771.00$                   $25,000.00 25,000.00$                 + $18,229.00 11.9%

This item is approximately 16% of the Contractor's bid which is more than a 

typical industry wide average of 10%. The contractor may be increasing this 

item to account for contractor risk associated with in-water work or the 

condition of the existing culverts. Hoyle Tanner suggests that this item be 

discussed with the Contractor to determine what assumptions / risks are 

carried in this item and if changes to the contract can reduce this cost. 

699.

MISCELLANEOUS TEMPORARY EROSION AND 

SEDIMENT CONTROL 1,500 $ $1.00 1,500.00$                   $1.00 1,500.00$                   $0.00 0.0% 1

TOTAL 74,481.00$                 153,000.00$               

% OF LOW BID USED TO IDENTIFY ITEMS OF SIGNIFICANCE 2% OR 3,060.00$         

DIFFERENCE AS 

% OF THE TOTAL 

BID REMARKS

BID ANALYSIS

LOW BID ITEM 

AMOUNT 

DIFFERENCEITEM NO. DESCRIPTION QUANTITY

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE 

LOW BID                                                                  

NEIL H. DANIELS

Remarks: 1. The relatively small difference in cost between the estimated and bid prices appear to present no advantage to the contractor nor disadvantage to the Owner. Page 2 of 2

Page 135 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Spring Rd. Microsurfacing Bid Department: Public Works 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We recently solicited bids for our Spring Rd. Micro-Surfacing project.  The bid opening 
was February 28 at 11am.  We only received one bid for this project.  The bid received 
was from Indus.  Indus is prequalified to bid on NH DOT micro-surfacing projects, and 
is the only company local to our area that we could identify.  We did solicit other 
companies not local to this area.  Our bid was advertised on several electronic 
platforms, including the Town Website, NHMA, Construction Summary, and Dodge 
Data & Analytics.   
 
The bid submitted totaled $298,788.54.  This was considerably higher than we were 
anticipating.  We contacted Indus to find out why the cost was much higher than 
anticipated.  We believe they may have made a mistake with their proposal.  We have 
also contacted the other companies we solicited directly to determine why they did not 
bid. As of the time this report was submitted, we had not heard back from Indus or the 
other vendors. 
 
We intend to put this work back out to bid in hopes of receiving a bid closer to what we 
were anticipating.  Microsurfacing would be a very good treatment candidate for Spring 
Rd., assuming pricing is not greater than conventional methods such as an asphalt 
overlay. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Rebid project 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
None 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

Page 136 of 159



None 
 

Page 137 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Elderly Tax Deferral Department: Tax Collector 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Gail Stout  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The 2022 Elderly Tax Deferral application has been reviewed by the Tax Collector and 
all criteria have been met.   
Approval has been recommended.  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
To Approve and sign. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve and sign the 2022 Elderly Tax Deferral Application for Map 5, Lot 
114 in the amount of $3,652. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. RSA72 38 a Tax Deferral for Elderly and Disabled_ 
2. Elderly Tax Deferral Confidential BOS March 13 2023 
 

Page 138 of 159



TITLE V
TAXATION
CHAPTER 72

PERSONS AND PROPERTY LIABLE TO TAXATION

Property Taxes

Section 72:38-a

    72:38-a Tax Deferral for Elderly and Disabled. –
I. Any resident property owner may apply for a tax deferral if the person:
(a) Is either at least 65 years old or eligible under Title II or Title XVI of the federal Social Security Act for benefits for the disabled; and
(b) Has owned the homestead for at least 5 consecutive years if the person qualifies as an elderly applicant, or has owned the homestead for at least one year if the
person qualifies as a disabled applicant; and
(c) Is living in the home.
The assessing officials may annually grant a person qualified under this paragraph a tax deferral for all or part of the taxes due, plus annual interest at 5 percent, if
in their opinion the tax liability causes the taxpayer an undue hardship or possible loss of the property. The total of tax deferrals on a particular property shall not
be more than 85 percent of its equity value. The total of tax deferrals shall be determined by the following formula:
Assessed Value = Equalized Assessed Value
Equalization Ratio
Equalized Assessed Value - Total of Priority Liens = Equity Value
Equity Value X .85 = Total Amount Which May be Deferred
At any time during the tax deferral process, the governing body may consider an abatement pursuant to RSA 76:16.
II. A tax deferral shall be subject to any prior liens on the property and shall be treated as such in any foreclosure proceeding.
II-a. No person shall be entitled to the deferral under this section unless the person has filed with the selectmen or assessors, by March 1 following the date of
notice of tax under RSA 72:1-d, a permanent application therefor, signed under penalty of perjury, on a form approved and provided by the commissioner of
revenue administration, showing that the applicant is the true and lawful owner of the property on which the deferral is claimed and that the applicant is duly
qualified at the time of application. Any person who changes residence after filing such a permanent application shall file an amended permanent application on or
before December 1 immediately following the change of residence. The filing of the permanent application shall be sufficient for said persons to receive a deferral
on an annual basis so long as the applicant does not change residence; provided, however, that towns and cities may require an annual application for the tax
deferral authorized for the elderly and disabled by this section. The form shall include the following and such other information deemed necessary by the
commissioner:
(a) Instructions on completing and filing the form, including an explanation of the grounds for requesting a deferral.
(b) Sections for information concerning the applicant, the property for which the relief is sought, and other properties owned by the person applying.
(c) A section explaining the appeal procedure and stating the appeal deadline in the event the municipality denies the tax relief request in whole or in part.
(d) A place for the applicant's signature with a certification by the person applying that the application has a good faith basis and the facts in the application are
true.
III. If the property is subject to a mortgage, the owner must have the mortgage holder's approval of the tax deferral. Such approval does not grant the town a
preferential lien.
IV. When the owner of a property subject to a tax deferral dies, the heirs, heirs-at-law, assignee, or devisee shall have first priority to redeem the estate by paying
in full the deferred taxes plus any interest due. If the heirs, heirs-at-law, assignees, or devisees do not redeem the property within 9 months of the date of death of
the property owner, the municipality may commit the accrued amount of the deferral to the collector of taxes with a warrant signed by the assessing officials
requiring him or her to collect it; and the collector of taxes shall have the same rights and remedies in relation thereto as provided in RSA 76:13 and RSA 80.
Prior to holding a tax sale or executing a priority tax lien under RSA 80:59, the collector shall, at least 30 days prior to such tax sale or tax lien execution, send
notice by certified or registered mail, to the last known post office address of the current owner, if known, or to the last known address of the deceased taxpayer,
and to all mortgagees from whom permission has been sought pursuant to paragraph III of this section. Any person with a legal interest in the property may
redeem it, either prior to the tax sale or tax lien execution, or subsequently as set forth in RSA 80:32 or RSA 80:69.
IV-a. When the owner of a property subject to a tax deferral sells or otherwise conveys the property, the owner or grantee shall pay in full the deferred taxes plus
any interest due and the municipality shall provide recorded written release or satisfaction of the notice of tax deferral. If the owner or grantee, who shall be
deemed to have notice of and shall take title to the property subject to the notice of tax deferral, does not pay the accrued amount on the property within 9 months
of the date of sale or conveyance of the property, the municipality may commit the accrued amount of the deferral to the collector of taxes with a warrant signed
by the assessing officials requiring him or her to collect it; and the collector of taxes shall have the same rights and remedies in relation thereto as provided in
RSA 76:13 and RSA 80. Prior to holding a tax sale or executing a priority tax lien under RSA 80:59, the collector shall, at least 30 days prior to such tax sale or
tax lien execution, send notice by certified or registered mail, to the last known post office address of the current owner, if known, or to the last known address of
the taxpayer who received the deferral, and to all mortgagees from whom permission has been sought pursuant to paragraph III of this section. Any person with a
legal interest in the property may redeem it, either prior to the tax sale or tax lien execution, or subsequently as set forth in RSA 80:32 or RSA 80:69.
V. The assessing officials shall file notice of each tax deferral granted, within 30 days, with the registry of deeds of the county in which the property is located to
perfect it.
VI. When a taxpayer appeals the denial of a deferral application to the superior court or board of tax and land appeals, the court or board may reverse or affirm,
wholly or partly, or may modify the decision brought up for review when there is an error of law or when the court or board is persuaded by the balance of
probabilities, on the evidence before it, that said decision is unreasonable.

Source. 1973, 452:1. 1975, 214:1. 1977, 54:1; 591:1-3. 1981, 374:1. 1983, 155:3. 1994, 390:1. 1995, 265:7. 1997, 37:1. 2003, 299:12, eff. April 1, 2003; 299:13,
eff. April 1, 2005. 2013, 141:1, eff. Jan. 1, 2014.

Page 139 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Assessing Department: Assessing 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact: Michele Boudreau  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
 
Veteran Tax Credit 
Item A. I have reviewed the attached Veteran Tax Credit Application provided and the 
applicant qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28-b for the 2023 tax year. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
The attached application has been reviewed by our Assessor and our Assessor 
recommends approval. Therefore, I move to approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 
004, Lot 034-014 commencing in Tax Year 2023. 
 
Solar Exemption 
Item B. I have reviewed the attached SOLAR EXEMPTION Application provided and 
the applicant qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:62 for the 2023 tax year. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
Our Assessor has reviewed the application for the solar exemption under RSA 72:62 
and recommends approval. Therefore, I move to approve the solar exemption in the 
amount of $17,500 for Map 002, Lot 173-012 commencing in tax year 2023. 
 
Abatement 
Item C. A review of this account has determined an overcharge of interest on the 
December 2021 property tax invoice that remained outstanding and consequently 
caused a lien to be placed on the balance due in the amount of $ 315.06.  The interest 
charge and the offsetting payment have been appropriately corrected.  To meet the 
requirements of the auditors, an abatement of the outstanding lien is required to 
remove this amount from the Tax Collector’s records. 

Page 140 of 159



 
Suggested Motion:  The Tax Collector has reviewed and corrected the interest 
charged on this property.  Therefore, I move to approve and sign an abatement in the 
amount of $315.06 for Map 005 Lot 026-001 to remove the balance due on the 2021 
tax lien. 
 
 
Item D. The taxpayers have appealed the assessment of their property because the 
basement area is not finished living space and the lot size is 1.3 acres not 1.75 acres 
as we have it assessed for.  They have provided a partial septic design which has the 
acreage noted as 1.3.  If they provide an actual survey of the property which indicates a 
size of 1.3 acres, I will update the assessing record accordingly. 
 
This property was inspected by the assessor, Todd Haywood on February 27, 2023, 
because of this abatement request.  The result was the basement is not a finished living 
area, the single-story area is noted as the finished first floor is unfinished and 
unheated.  I changed the sketch code from the first floor living area to an enclosed 
porch.  Additionally, the interior is somewhat dated, 30+- years old in the kitchen & 
baths.  I changed the condition for age to average. 
 
Suggested Motion:   
This abatement application is for a single-family home on a 1.3-acre site.  The Assessor 
reviewed the application and determined there were several areas needing adjustment 
as described in the above memo. After adjustments, the assessment was reduced by 
$42,800, from $492,000 to $449,200.  The Assessor recommends approval of a 
corresponding abatement request.  Therefore, I move to approve an abatement for Tax 
Year 2022 for Map 006, Lot 074-009 in the amount of $904.00 plus any applicable 
interest/fees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Item A Confidential 
2. Item B Confidential 
3. Item C Confidential 
4. Item D Confidential 
 

Page 141 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Milford Rotary Raffle Permit, 100 
Holes of Golf 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
THe Milford Rotary's Annual 100 Holes of Golf will be held Friday June 16, 2023, rain or 
shine. Raffle ticket sales commence April 5. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve the permit for the sale of raffle tickets for the MIlford Rotary's Annual 
100 Holes of Golf, sales to begin April 5 and prizes to be awarded at the event June 16, 
2023. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Milford Rotary Annual 100 Holes of Golf, Raffle Permit completed form 2023 
2. 100 holes of golf raffle ticket 2023 
 

Page 142 of 159



THE ROTARY CLUB OF MILFORD NH F/B/O THE MILFORD ROTARY CLUB FOUNDATION 

PATRICIA MACINTYRE

TICKET SALES ARE THROUGHOUT LOCAL SOUHEGAN VALLEY TOWNS 

JUNE 16, 2023 AT THE AMHERST COUNTRY CLUB

PATTYAMAC@COMCAST.NET

TEN TOTAL PRIZES - FIVE OF $500, ONE OF $750, ONE OF $1,000, ONE OF $1,250, ONE OF $2,000 AND 

one of $5,000.

Page 143 of 159



HELD AT THE 
AMHERST COUNTRY CLUB

AMHERST, NH

A FUNDRAISING EFFORT OF
THE MILFORD, NH ROTARY CLUB

F/B/O THE MILFORD ROTARY CLUB FOUNDATION

FRIDAY 
JUNE 16, 2023

RAIN OR SHINE

www.Golf100Holes.com

#00001

10 CHANCES TO WIN!

1ST PRIZE $5,000.00
2ND PRIZE $2,000.00
3RD PRIZE $1,250.00
4TH PRIZE $1,000.00
5TH PRIZE $750.00
6TH– 10TH PRIZE $500.00 

EACH

Attendance not required to win

Proceeds from the 100 Holes of Golf 
benefit thousands of area residents 
through grants and scholarships 
made by the Milford Rotary Club. 
Since its first year, the tournament 
has raised well over $1,500,000 
that has remained right here in our 
communities, benefiting people of 
all ages, supporting essential local 
services, providing scholarship funds 
and helping a variety of non-profits 
offer new programs and strengthen 
their operations.

TWIN PRETZELS & 
BEER CHEESE

Only one coupon per visit. Expires 12/31/2023

FREE
with the purchase of Beer/Wine

193 Union Square, Milford NH

603.882.9111 | eprinting@thecopyshop.com

thecopyshop.com

15% OFF
Any Coroplast Sign, Vinyl Banner 

or Foam Core, Poster Order

Expires: 12/31/2023. Not to be com
bined w

ith any other offers. 
M

ust present coupon. 
Coupon can only be used once. Print ready file required.

Connect With Us – 
We Are People of Action

Rotary is where neighbors, friends, and 
problem-solvers share ideas, join leaders, 
and take action to create lasting change. 
To learn more, and join us at a meeting 

on Wednesday’s at noon, email us at
membership@milfordrotaryclub.org or check 
us out at: https://portal.clubrunner.ca/2944/

FREE LUNCH

JOIN US FOR A FREE LUNCH!
We’d love for you to see what we are all about!

Enthusiastically serving Amherst, Milford, 
Mont Vernon, Wilton, Lyndeborough and the 

community at-large since 1950. 
We have FUN while making a difference. 

This coupon entitles you to visit with us for 
a FREE LUNCH, Wednesdays at Noon. 

Send us an email 
membership@milfordrotaryclub.org 

and learn more!

Page 144 of 159



 
Humble Kitchen

237 South Street 
Milford, NH 03055 

603-672-9130
Papajoeshumblekitchen.com 

Trombley Gardens 

EVENT SPONSOR

RAFFLE TICKET SPONSOR

 
Humble Kitchen

237 South Street 
Milford, NH 03055 

603-672-9130
Papajoeshumblekitchen.com 

10% OFF YOUR ENTIRE ORDER

Cannot be combined with any other coupons or discounts. 
Does not include alcohol. One per couple. Offer expires 10/31/23.

MILFORD
524 Nashua Street

603-673-3939

www.giorgios.com

MERRIMACK/NASHUA
Pennichuck Square

603-883-7333

$10 OFF YOUR $50
DINNER PURCHASE

MANCHESTER
270 Granite Street

603-232-3323

FREE DRINK!
- UP TO 24 oz -

100 holes of golf

*Available ONLY at 2 Pauls Way, Amherst, NH, 03031. 2 So Beech St, Manchester, NH, 03103. 3 Chambers Drive, Hooksett,
NH, 03106. Additional Charges May Apply for Taxes and Extras. Limit One Per Customer Per Day. May Not be Combined with Any

Other Offer. Must Present Coupon at Time of Purchase. Coupon May Not be Transferred, Sold, Modified, or Copied. No Cash Value. 
2023 AJ IP Holder LLC. Aroma Joes® is a registered trademark of AJ IP Holder LLC.

Expires 08/01/2023

PLEASE SUPPORT OUR FOOD 
& BEVERAGE SPONSORS

NAME  

EMAIL  

PHONE  

SOLD BY  

$20.00
#00001

PATRON SPONSOR

AMBASSADOR SPONSOR

Glenn Flessas
Financial Representative 

603-582-3522

YOUR LOGO HERE

Page 145 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Amherst Garden Club Raffle Permit 
Application 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Amherst Garden Club would like to sell raffle tickets from April 1-May 14, 2023. 
THe drawing will take place at the Annual Plant Sale at Wilkins School at noon on May 
13, 2023. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve the raffle permit application from the Amherst Garden Club, selling 
raffle tickets from April 1 to May 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 4973_001 
 

Page 146 of 159



Page 147 of 159



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Payroll, AP and Minutes  Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Approvals: 
  
    Payroll 
       PR1~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Payroll Manifest in the amount of 
$234,806.72 dated February 23, 2023, subject to review and audit. 
  
       PR2~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Payroll Manifest in the amount of 
$256,476.31 dated March 4, 2023, subject to review and audit. 
  
   Accounts Payable 
  
    AP1 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$625.00 dated February 28, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Vendors ) 
  
    AP2 ~I move to approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$316,365.74 dated February 28, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Vendors ) 
 
    AP3~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$2,981,010.00 dated March 1, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Schools) 
  
   AP4 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$40,306.65 dated February16, 2023, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 
 
   AP5 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$31,619.73 dated March 8, 2023, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 
  

Page 148 of 159



    Minutes 
     ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 8, 2023. 
     ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 21, 2023.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2023.02.08 BOS MINUTES, DRAFT JS 
2. 2023.02.21 BOS_DRAFT_dp 
 

Page 149 of 159



 
 

 

 

 

 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Souhegan High School 

412 Boston Post Road 

Wednesday, February 8, 2023, 6:30PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 

Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 2 

 3 

Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Tom Grella, Selectman John D’Angelo, 4 

Selectman Bill Stoughton, and Selectman Danielle Pray. 5 

 6 

Also present: Town Administrator Dean Shankle and Executive Assistant Jennifer Stover. 7 

 8 

The meeting was immediately recessed until the conclusion of the deliberative session, 9 

 10 

At 12:05 a.m. the meeting was called back into order by Chairman Lyon. 11 

 12 

The board agreed not to support this article as amended by a vote of 0-5-0. 13 

 14 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Gella and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 15 

adjourn the meeting at 12:11 p.m. 16 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 17 

 18 

 19 

NEXT MEETING: Tuesday, February 21, 2023 20 

 21 

 22 

    23 

_________________________       __________________ 24 

Selectman Danielle Pray Date 25 

Page 150 of 159



 
 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 

2 Main Street 

Tuesday, February 21, 2023, 6:30PM 
 

Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Bill Stoughton, Selectman John D’Angelo, 1 

Selectman Grella, and Selectman Danielle Pray 2 

 3 

Also present: Town Administrator Dean Shankle 4 

 5 

1. Call to Order 6 

Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  7 

 8 

2. Pledge of Allegiance – led by Police Chief Mark Reams. 9 

 10 

3.  Public Hearing 11 

 3.1 Public Hearing, Citizen Petitioned Warrant Article: Tax Cap 12 

 13 

Chairman Lyon read the Tax Cap Warrant Article, as amended at Deliberative Session into 14 

the record: 15 

 16 

ARTICLE 36: Tax Cap – PETITION WARRANT ARTICLE 17 

Shall the Town adopt the provisions of RSA 32:5-b, and implement a tax cap whereby the 18 

governing body (or budget committee) shall not submit a recommended budget that increases 19 

the amount to be raised by local taxes, based on the prior fiscal year’s actual amount of local 20 

taxes raised, by more than 100%? 21 

(3/5 Majority Vote Required). 22 

(The Board of Selectmen does not support this article by a vote of 0-5-0.) 23 

(The Ways and Means Committee does not support this article by a vote of 0-6-0.) 24 

 25 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to enter 26 

into a Public Hearing.  27 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 28 

 29 

Russ Hodgkins reviewed a copy of the briefing he made at Deliberative Session on this item. 30 

This has been updated to reflect the changes made on the floor of Deliberative Session. If the 31 

tax cap was adopted, budget increases on an annual basis would not be able to exceed the tax 32 

cap, without an override. This tax cap would not affect budgets until July 2024. This is a 33 

transparent metric to increase taxes. The tax cap, as amended at Deliberative Session, is 34 

essentially not a cap. 35 

 36 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to close 37 

the Public Hearing.  38 

Page 151 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 2 OF 9 

 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 39 

 40 

4.  Citizen’s Forum  41 

Doug Chabinsky, 89 Boston Post Road, stated that he is aware a traffic study for the Village 42 

streets has been completed. He asked when this would be reviewed with residents.  43 

 44 

Town Administrator Shankle stated that the report is similar to one that the Town has had in 45 

the past. He spoke with NRPC, and pedestrian counts were not added to the report as 46 

recommended. This needs to be completed but a conversation could be had with residents in 47 

the meantime. He noted that a conversation with Town Counsel regarding marking some 48 

streets in the Village as “No Thru Trucking” roads could be considered. The Board could also 49 

consider weight limits for some Village roads. The issue with both of those ideas is 50 

enforcement. There is an additional, broader study being done of the Village streets by 51 

Mobycon, through the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee, but this will likely not be 52 

complete until April. 53 

 54 

Chairman Lyon asked if the Board would like to wait for the broader study in order to better 55 

address resident concerns. Selectman Stoughton stated that it would make sense for resident 56 

input to be considered as part of the Mobycon study. Chairman Lyon explained that Mobycon 57 

will likely be hosting another public input session in the beginning of April. 58 

 59 

Doug Chabinsky stated that he attended the first public input session hosted by Mobycon. It 60 

was not well advertised. Residents of the Village are angry, and some are considering moving, 61 

as the area is no longer safe and peaceful. The character of the Village has changed due to 62 

recent construction around Town. He suggested that the Board meet with residents as soon as 63 

possible to discuss short-term strategies. 64 

 65 

Selectman Grella stated that he would like to speak with the residents of the Village soon and 66 

that letters should be sent to each homeowner regarding a date for that meeting. 67 

 68 

Selectman D’Angelo suggested that a Mobycon representative could be invited to the meeting 69 

with the Village residents, in hopes of better informing their study.  70 

 71 

Selectman Pray agreed with meeting with the residents and suggested that residents come to 72 

the meeting with some ideas for solutions to consider. 73 

 74 

The Board agreed to schedule a meeting as soon as possible. 75 

 76 

      5. Board Approval: Donation to the Conservation Commission 77 

5.1 Donation to the Conservation Commission  78 

Chairman Lyon noted that the Board cannot act on this donation this evening, as it is in excess 79 

of $5,000. A public hearing will be scheduled at a later date for this item. 80 

 81 

       6.   Administration 82 

6.1. Administrative Updates 83 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that he heard from DPW Director, Eric Slosek, that 84 

the Town’s CMAQ application looks promising. Due to the number of applications received 85 

Page 152 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 3 OF 9 

 

this year, all applications are being considered for funding. This funding would be used for a 86 

side path extension from the Amherst Street stoplight to the bridge. In order to be eligible for 87 

the grant, the Town must prove that this proposal will improve air quality in the Town.  88 

 89 

Town Administrator Shankle stated that it is yet unclear the exact extent of the septic system 90 

issue at Baboosic Lake. More testing is needed. It is also unclear if insurance will cover this 91 

item. 92 

 93 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Town received $60,000 from Comcast, which 94 

will be used to update its video equipment. 95 

 96 

6.2 New Attorney Engagement Letter 97 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Town received four proposal for new 98 

attorneys. Three of these companies were interviewed by the Chairman of the Board of 99 

Selectman, and the Chair of the Planning Board. Based on those interviews, he is 100 

recommending the Town engage DrummondWoodsum as the Town attorney. 101 

 102 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 103 

authorize the Town Administrator to sign the engagement letter with DrummondWoodsum 104 

attorneys. 105 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 106 

 107 

6.3 Focused Site Investigation Update 108 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that the final focused site investigation report has 109 

been sent to the State. It will likely take about a month for this to be reviewed. He noted that, 110 

although those affected have been hooked up to Pennichuck Water, all of those previously 111 

receiving bottled water will continue to have this delivered until information regarding the 112 

Town’s responsibility is reported. The State could also request additional studies.  113 

 114 

6.4 Proposed Sick Leave Policy Amendment 115 

Town Administrator Shankle stated that many departments have been dealing with the Sick 116 

Leave Policy differently, and there are amendments being proposed to handle this. 117 

 118 

Police Chief Reams explained that the policy is not being handled consistently among 119 

departments. Eric Slosek, Amy Lapointe, and himself have been meeting to discuss potential 120 

amendments. He explained that the goal is to establish uniformity across departments. He 121 

noted that employees were previously required to contribute some of their time to the sick 122 

leave bank, while being paid out for the rest. This was recently amended, per a memo from 123 

March 9, 2020, so that all new employees can be paid out for all of their days, without 124 

donating any to the sick leave bank. This is a disadvantage to long-term employees, who are 125 

left with the responsibility to place time into the sick leave bank. There is no incentive or 126 

requirement for new employees to bank some of their sick time, and those that then need the 127 

sick bank have no cushion to supplement their pay. He explained that, in a comparison to 128 

other communities, other towns pay out for sick or earned time and most afford their 129 

employees more time out of the gate. Amherst offers new employees 7 days, while Milford 130 

offers 8, and most others offer 12. Hollis pays out for up to 500 hours or earned time, while 131 

Page 153 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 4 OF 9 

 

Amherst is capped at 240 hours. He stated that Amherst is behind the curve, in terms of these 132 

benefits. 133 

 134 

Eric Slosek stated that the proposed changes to this policy may make Amherst slightly more 135 

competitive in terms of attracting and retaining workers. 136 

 137 

In response to a question from Selectman Grella, Chief Reams stated that the union contract is 138 

silent on sick leave time, and so will follow the Town’s policy. 139 

 140 

In response to a question from Selectman Pray regarding the proposed policy amendments, 141 

Chief Reams explained that sick time uses are clarified, and unused sick bank hours are paid 142 

out at separation instead of lost. 143 

 144 

Selectman Stoughton asked what the potential unfunded liability could be to the Town from 145 

this proposal. Debbie Bender, Finance Director, explained that the cost is approximately 146 

$194,000 if all employees were to leave the Town and be paid out for their sick bank hours. 147 

However, the amount in wages not paid in that scenario would likely cover this cost. 148 

 149 

Selectman Stoughton stated that he is not prepared to vote on this item tonight, as it seems to 150 

be part of a larger issue. The Board also still needs to discuss the potential of joining into the 151 

NH Retirement system. He noted that he would like a chance to review all of the data that was 152 

included as part of this presentation. 153 

 154 

In response to a question from Chairman Lyon, Debbie Bender stated that the Town could 155 

budget for accumulated vacation time as an unfunded liability as well. 156 

 157 

Selectman D’Angelo noted that he is okay with bringing the Town’s benefits up to par, in 158 

hopes of being more competitive in attracting and retaining employees. If the Town does 159 

decide to move to the NH Retirement system, it will need to review all of the benefits anyway. 160 

 161 

There was consensus on taking additional time to review the documents that were included as 162 

part of this proposal. Chairman Lyon noted that the Board could choose to make an 163 

amendment to the policy retroactive, in order to aid any employees that retire between now 164 

and then. 165 

 166 

Town Administrator Shankle noted that the memo from 2020 came from his previous 167 

Executive Assistant and not from him. He is unclear why it was sent, as it is not consistent 168 

with the existing policy. The Board could choose to affirm the existing policy this evening.  169 

 170 

Executive Assistant Jennifer Stover noted that the Town has been operating under the practice 171 

of the policy as outlined in the 2020 memo and it may be a disadvantage to change that while 172 

discussion is still ongoing. 173 

 174 

7.  Staff Reports 175 

7.1. FY23 Budget to Actual as of Jan 2023  176 

Debbie Bender stated that, at this point in the year it would be appropriate to have 177 

approximately 40% of the overall budget left, and the Town is within that range. She noted 178 

Page 154 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 5 OF 9 

 

that line 4130 in the Administration budget was changed from $0 to $50,000, as this is where 179 

she has been placing all of the PFAS related invoices. The Board reviewed a few other line 180 

items that are overbudget currently.  181 

 182 

In response to a question from Chairman Lyon, Debbie Bender stated that lines that are 183 

overspent should not have funds moved into them from other lines at this time. These 184 

overbudget lines will give department heads things to be aware of during the next budgeting 185 

cycle.  186 

 187 

Debbie Bender noted that, prior to her time with the Town, there were many payroll problems. 188 

These have been mostly sorted out and there will be no penalties through NHRS. The IRS still 189 

may choose to apply approximately $12,000 worth of penalties to the Town, but this may also 190 

be wiped out once the Town shows it is working to address the items. 191 

 192 

7.2.  AFR Job Description – Deputy Chief of Operations  193 

Fire Chief Matt Conley explained that, with the reclassification of the position known as 194 

Captain of Fire & EMS Operations to Deputy Chief of Fire & EMS Operations, it is time to 195 

update the job description for the position. The budget impact for FY23 is approximately 196 

$1,086 and for FY24 is approximately $3,000. 197 

 198 

In response to a question from Selectman Stoughton, Chief Conley explained that the Captain 199 

position will be eliminated after this promotion. 200 

 201 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 202 

approve the reclassification of the position of Captain of Operations to Deputy Chief of 203 

Operations at the recommendation of Chief Matthew Conley. 204 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 205 

 206 

7.3.  AFR Job Description – Deputy Chief of Prevention 207 

 208 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 209 

approve the job description for the position of Deputy Chief of Prevention at the 210 

recommendation of Chief Matthew Conley. 211 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 212 

 213 

7.4.  Fire Rescue Position Reclassification  214 

 215 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 216 

approve the change of the titled full time Captain to full time Deputy Chief and moving the 217 

position to Grade 18 Step 7 at the recommendation of Chief Matthew Conley. 218 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 219 

 220 

7.5 Transfer Station Electrical 221 

 222 

DPW Director Eric Slosek explained that the electrical panel which powers the compactors at 223 

the Transfer Station is in desperate need of replacement and relocation. The current location 224 

of this electric panel is behind and below the foundation for the deck. It is in a small concrete 225 

Page 155 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 6 OF 9 

 

room that is exposed to rainwater and high levels of humidity; it does not dry out. Recently, 226 

the vendor for trash hauling, DC Slocum, informed him that they will not permit their 227 

personnel to enter this room to deenergize the compacting equipment due to safety concerns. 228 

He has also instructed personnel at the Transfer Station not to enter this room without first 229 

disconnecting the power from its source. Three prices from three reputable area companies 230 

were solicited for this work. He requested the Board authorize an emergency waiver of the 231 

bidding requirements and award this work to the lowest proposal, Long Champs Electric. The 232 

purpose of this request is to expedite the process and complete this work as soon as possible. 233 

 234 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 235 

award the work to replace and relocate the compactor electrical panel at the transfer station 236 

to Long Champs Electric for the amount of $10,840. 237 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 238 

 239 

7.6 DPW New Hire 240 

 241 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 242 

hire Tenzin Phuntsok as the DPW Fleet Mechanic, starting at grade 9, step 8, or $26.44 243 

hourly. A pay increase of one step will be awarded after successful completion of the six-244 

month probation period, and another step increase after receiving a NH CDL B license. 245 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 246 

 247 

7.7 Recreation Dept. Water Leak Repair 248 

Eric Slosek explained that the recent extreme cold weather on February 3rd and 4th caused 249 

water pipes to break at the Recreation Department office. A claim was filed with Primex on 250 

February 9th. The guidance from Primex was to remove all soiled materials, including drywall, 251 

carpet, and insulation as soon as possible to prevent mold growth. These tasks were completed 252 

the week of February 6th. Due to the widespread damage in Hillsborough County, and 253 

elsewhere in the state, contractors are booked. The Town was placed on a waiting list with 254 

Servepro, and quoted weeks out for plumbing repairs. Northern Improvements, a local 255 

Amherst contractor, was contacted to solicit a price and availability to make the necessary 256 

repairs to the floor, walls, and painting. This work would be needed to reopen the Recreation 257 

office. This contractor is currently booked but offered to prioritize the work if awarded by the 258 

Board. They are available to begin on February 22nd, if approved. The cost estimate was sent 259 

to Primex for review and the case manager agreed that this price is consistent with estimates. 260 

Recreation Director Fraley has indicated that reopening as soon as possible is of the 261 

utmost importance. He mentioned that this time of year is extremely busy for his department, 262 

and that it is imperative that his staff be able to work together in the same building to 263 

coordinate efforts. Eric Slosek requested that the Board authorize an emergency waiver to the 264 

bidding requirements, as allowed in the Town Purchasing Policy, and award the work to 265 

Northern Improvements. 266 

 267 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 268 

award the work to repair the Recreation office to Northern Improvements, in the amount of 269 

$14,330. 270 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 271 

 272 

Page 156 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 7 OF 9 

 

 273 

7.8 Tree Removal in Large Common 274 

Eric Slosek explained that a recent storm damaged a large pine tree in the large common. The 275 

tree is located at the western side of the common. The tree contractor attempted to trim the 276 

broken branches away from the tree. In the process, it was discovered that the top of the large 277 

pine has extensive rot, holes, etc. The contractor, and the tree warden, recommend that this 278 

tree should be removed. He noted that other trees were also damaged during the windstorm on 279 

Conservation Commission property at the end of Ridgewood Drive. There are 2-3 trees on an 280 

easement, leaning onto private property that the Conservation Commission would like to 281 

remove as part of this contract. 282 

 283 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 284 

authorize the DPW to remove the pine tree of concern in the large common. 285 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 286 

 287 

8. Approvals 288 

8.1 Application and Permit for Wholesale, Retail Sales of Permissible 289 

Fireworks, Atlas Fireworks 290 

 291 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 292 

approve the application and permit for Wholesale, Retail Sales of Permissible Fireworks to 293 

Atlas Fireworks.  294 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 295 

 296 

8.2.  Baboosic Lake Community Septic Warrants 297 

 298 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 299 

approve and sign the Baboosic Lake Community Septic Warrants due April 3, 2023 as 300 

follows: 301 

Phase I  $2,074.68 302 

Phase II  $2,429.28 303 

Phase III  $6,754.86 304 

Phase IV  $4,803.00  305 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 306 

 307 

8.3.  Assessing  308 

 309 

Elderly Exemption 310 

Item A.  311 

The Assessor has reviewed the application for an Elderly Exemption under RSA 72:39-a and 312 

recommends approval. 313 

 314 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 315 

approve the Elderly Exemption for Map 002, Lot 009-000-001 commencing in Tax Year 316 

2023.  317 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 318 

 319 

Page 157 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 8 OF 9 

 

All Service Veterans' Tax Credit 320 

Item B.  321 

The Assessor has reviewed the application for the All-Service Veterans’ Tax Credit under 322 

RSA 72:28-b and recommends approval.  323 

 324 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 325 

approve the All-Service Veterans’ Tax Credit for Map 004, Lot 052-044 commencing in Tax 326 

Year 2023.  327 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 328 

 329 

8.4.  Payroll, AP and Meeting Minutes  330 

 331 

Payroll 332 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 333 

approve one (1) FY23 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $251,759.91 dated February 4, 2023, 334 

subject to review and audit.  335 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 336 

 337 

Accounts Payable 338 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 339 

approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $27,586.74 dated 340 

February 1, 2023, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV)  341 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 342 

 343 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 344 

approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $2,981,009.00 dated 345 

February 1, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Schools) 346 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 347 

 348 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 349 

approve one (1) FY23 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $278,667.39 dated 350 

February 14, 2023, subject to review and audit. (Vendors) 351 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 352 

 353 

Minutes 354 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Pray and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 355 

approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 6, 2023, as amended. 356 

Voting: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 357 

 358 

9.  Action Items 359 

The Board reviewed its action items. 360 

 361 

10.  Old/New Business 362 

Selectman Pray noted that at the most recent NRPC meeting,  she learned that NHDOT will 363 

be holding a hearing at Town Hall on March 6th regarding the work to be done along Route 364 

101. This work will not actually be in Amherst but located close by. A hearing will also be 365 

held in Milford on March 7th.  366 

Page 158 of 159



 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2023.02.21 

 PAGE 9 OF 9 

 

 367 

11.  Non-Public Session 368 

11.1. RSA 91-A:3, II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee. 369 

 370 

A MOTION was made by Chairman Lyon and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to enter 371 

into Non-Public Session at 8:13pm., per RSA 91-A:3, II (b) The hiring of any person as a 372 

public employee. 373 

Roll Call Voting: Selectman Grella – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Pray – aye; 374 

Selectman Stoughton – aye; and Chairman Lyon – aye; 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 375 

 376 

A discussion was held by the Board of Selectmen and Chief Mark Reams regarding the hiring 377 

of Police personnel. No votes were taken. 378 

 379 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to exit 380 

Non-Public Session at 8:27pm. 381 

Roll Call Voting: Selectman Grella – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Pray – aye; 382 

Selectman Stoughton – aye; and Chairman Lyon – aye; 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 383 

 384 

11. Adjournment  385 

 386 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to 387 

adjourn the meeting at 8:27pm. 388 

Roll Call Voting: Selectman Grella – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Pray – aye; 389 

Selectman Stoughton – aye; and Chairman Lyon – aye; 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 390 

 391 

NEXT MEETING: Monday, March 13, 2023 392 

   393 

_________________________       __________________ 394 

Selectman Danielle Pray Date 395 

Page 159 of 159


	1. Call to Order
	2. Non-Public Session 
	1. RSA 91-A:3 II(e) Pending Litigation  Consideration
	Non-public Session RSA 91-A:3 II(e) Pending Litiga

	2. RSA 91-A:3 II.(d) Consideration of the acquisition
	Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease o

	3. RSA 91-A:3 II(a) The dismissal, promotion, or comp
	Non-public Session RSA 91-A:3 II (a) 


	3. Pledge of Allegiance
	4. Board Appointment: Fourth of July Committee
	1. Tom Darnall, Application for Fourth of July Commit
	Fourth of July Volunteer app, T Darnall


	5. Citizens' Forum
	1. Village Residents' Traffic Concerns
	Staff Report


	6. Scheduled Appointments
	1. Use of Town Common application, Determined Marial 
	Determined Martial Arts, Town COmmon request, signed


	7. Administration
	1. Administrative Updates
	Staff Report

	2. Impact Fee Update
	Staff Report
	2023 Mayberry Update agreement


	8. Staff Reports
	1. Mont Vernon Rd. CE & Construction Bids/Approvals
	Staff Report
	40654-Amherst-NHDOT Notice of Low Bid
	40654 GPI Scope & Fee Proposal 23.01.12
	Terracon Scope
	MV Bridge award w-o tabulation
	RFQ Mont Vernon Rd_award
	HTA CE Phase Engineer of Record
	GPI-Amherst Contract Agreement
	CE letter to DOT 2-3-23
	Final Plan and QBS CE approval-email
	RFQ letter to DOT with attachments 12-8-22
	Amherst Bridge CRF Rev 2023_1_3 PDF

	2. Spring Rd. Culvert Repair Bids
	Staff Report
	Spring Road Notice of Low Bid

	3. Spring Rd. Microsurfacing Bid
	Staff Report


	9. Approvals
	1. Elderly Tax Deferral
	Staff Report
	RSA72 38 a Tax Deferral for Elderly and Disabled_

	2. Assessing
	Staff Report

	3. Milford Rotary Raffle Permit, 100 Holes of Golf 
	Staff Report
	Milford Rotary Annual 100 Holes of Golf, Raffle Permit completed form 2023
	100 holes of golf raffle ticket 2023

	4. Amherst Garden Club Raffle Permit Application
	Staff Report
	4973_001

	5. Payroll, AP and Minutes
	Staff Report
	2023.02.08 BOS MINUTES, DRAFT JS
	2023.02.21 BOS_DRAFT_dp


	10. Action Items
	11. Old/New Business
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting:  March 27, 2023

		2023-03-08T14:06:57-0800
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign




